Public Document Pack

Telford & Wrekin Protect, care and invest
Co-operative Council to create a better borough

Borough of Telford and Wrekin

Health & Wellbeing Board
Thursday 18 September 2025
2.00 pm
Council Chamber, Third Floor,

Southwater One, Telford, TF3 4JG

Democratic Services:

Media Enquiries:

Lorna Gordon 01952 384978

Corporate Communications 01952 382406

Committee Members:

A J Burford (Co-Chair), S Whitehouse (Co-Chair),
S P Burrell, K Middleton, S J Reynolds, KL Tomlinson,
P Watling, J Britton, N Carr, S Fogell, S Froud, N Pay,
E Hancox, F Mercer, H Onions, N Lee, CParker and
J Williams

Agenda Page
1.0 Apologies for Absence
2.0 Declarations of Interest
3.0 Minutes of the Previous Meeting 3-12

To approve the minutes of the meetings held on 26 June 2025.

4.0 Public Speaking

5.0 Quarterly Strategy Progress Report 13- 26

To receive the Health & Wellbeing Board Strategy Quarterly Progress

Page 1



6.0

7.0

8.0

9.0

Report.
Annual Public Health Report 2025 Towards a Smoke Free Future

To approve the Annual Public Health Report 2025: Towards a Smoke
Free Future.

Early Language Support Project Update
To receive an update on the Early Language Support Project.
GP Access Update

To receive an update from the ICS regarding the work that has been
undertaken with GP surgeries to improve GP access.

STW Healthy Ageing/Frailty Strategy

To review the Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin Healthy Ageing/Frailty
Strategy 2025-2028.

Page 2

To Follow

Verbal Report

27 -50

51 -168



Agenda Iltem 3

HEALTH & WELLBEING BOARD

Minutes of a meeting of the Health & Wellbeing Board held on Thursday
26 June 2025 at 2.00 pm in Council Chamber, Third Floor, Southwater
One, Telford, TE3 4JG

Present: Councillor A J Burford (Co-Chair), S Whitehouse (Co-Chair),
Councillor S J Reynolds, N Pay, F Mercer, H Onions, C Parker and J Suckling

In Attendance: M Bennett (Better Care Fund Commissioning Lead), S
Downes (Assurance and Integration Programme Manager and Telford and
Wrekin Place Lead), K Griffin (Community Safety Partnership Manager), L
Gordon (Member Support Officer), L Mills (Service Delivery Manager Health
Improvement & Prevention) and H Potter (Insight Manager)

Apologies: Councillor K Middleton, Councillor K L Tomlinson,
Councillor Watling, J Britton and S Froud

HWB10 Declarations of Interest

None.

HWB11 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

RESOLVED - that the minutes of the meeting held on 21 May 2025 be
approved.

HWB12 Public Speaking

None.

HWB13 Terms of Reference 2025/2026

The Mayor & Member Support Officer presented the 2025/2026 municipal
year Terms of Reference. Members were advised that at the Annual Council
meeting in May 2025, delegated authority had been granted to each
Committee to review their Terms of Reference. This delegation ensured the
Board can maintain effective governance arrangements that reflected evolving
system priorities and statutory responsibilities.

Members heard that as part of the review, the membership of the Board had
been updated. The Mayor & Member Support Officer advised that these
amendments had been made to strengthen representation and improve the
Board's ability to meet quoracy requirements. The Board were informed all
changes had been set out in red in Appendix A.

RESOLVED - that the Terms of Reference set out in Appendix A be
agreed and reconfirmed for the 2025/2026 municipal year.

Page 3



HWB14 OQuarterly Strateqy Progress Update

Members received the Quarterly Strategy Progress Report on the Health &
Wellbeing Strategy, which was accompanied by a short presentation. The
report provided an update against strategic priorities and was aligned with the
wider performance framework. Members were advised that the report included
case studies and highlighted both progress and ongoing challenges.

The Service Delivery Manager Health Improvement & Prevention summarised
the report, noting strong developments in the last quarter, particularly in
relation to underserved groups. Members heard that targeted work had been
undertaken to address health inequalities, with new insights emerging from
consultation activity. This included a focus on healthy weight, where data had
identified higher obesity levels among specific population groups, such as
individuals with learning difficulties.

Members were informed that grant funding had been secured to support new
initiatives, including the Get Yourself Active project, a training and education
programme involving social workers and national partners. The Board
welcomed the progress made in co-production with voluntary sector
organisations and local residents playing a key role in shaping services.
The Live Well and Family Hubs were noted as examples of successful
community engagement.

In relation to integration, Members were updated on improved neighbourhood-
level working, supported by newly established steering groups. Collaborative
efforts with Midlands Partnership Foundation Trust, SaTH and Shropshire
Community Hospital Trust were highlighted as positive developments. The
Board were advised that the area had been selected by Sport England as one
of 53 sites participating in the Place Expansion Programme, a long-term
initiative aimed at delivering strategic outcomes over a three to five year
period.

Members heard that the resilience of the voluntary sector remained a concern,
particularly in relation to long-term funding and capacity. While funding had
been built into the Sport England bid, the need to maintain contracts and
secure sustainable investment was emphasised. Integration and coordination
across services was identified as a further challenge, especially in supporting
individuals with multiple complex needs. Members were advised that scaling
up preventative work would require additional resources and funding.

The Board noted that while the report celebrated progress and the shift
towards care closer to home, there was a need to manage prioritisation and
expectations in light of available data, resources and funding. Members were
assured that data would continue to inform future work and that existing
assets and resources available at local level would continue to be promoted
and utilised in new ways. The Director of Public Health highlighted the strong
collaborative work that took place between Shropshire Community Health
Trust and the neighbourhood teams and suggested that the Board receive an
update on the primary care healthy lifestyles offer at a future meeting.

Page 4



Members noted increasing hospital admissions related to alcohol and drugs
and asked about the future direction of integrated working. The Director for
Public Health responded that ambitions were high, with strong engagement
from Trust and Integrated Care Board (ICB) colleagues, citing the Telford &
Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership (TWIPP) Accelerator Group as an
example of collaborative leadership. The Board were advised that it was key
that access to support for residents was seamless, regardless of the provider,
and that funding resource grants could be a potential solution to this. The
Chief Executive Officer for the Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin ICB noted that
integration would vary depending on its impact on effectiveness and resident
experience. He encouraged Members to view the 10-Year Plan as a mobiliser
for existing work and stressed the importance of coordination and shared
goals. He also raised the need for a broader conversation around financial
sustainability and suggested TWIPP could support this. Members noted that
grant funding was highly competitive, and resources were limited nationally.
They acknowledged positive developments through TWIPP and the ICS, while
recognising the scale of the challenge.

The Board noted the report and welcomed the progress made.

HWB15 Health & Wellbeing Strategy Performance Report

Members received a report from the Insight Manager providing an update on
performance against the Health & Wellbeing Strategy priorities. The report
was presented as part of the wider Joint Strategic Needs Assessment
(JSNA) update and brought together key performance indicators in a single,
consolidated format.

The Board were advised that the report would be developed further, with new
data sources, such as GP activity being incorporated at future meetings. It
was proposed that the performance report be presented to the Board on a six-
monthly basis, allowing for more detailed discussion of updated measures.

Members were informed of several positive trends, including improvements
in Year 6 healthy weight and early death rates among individuals with mental
health conditions. A decline in self-harm among young people was also noted,
alongside an increase in the percentage of cancers diagnosed early. These
developments were seen as evidence that targeted work to address
inequalities was having a positive impact on overall performance.

Members heard that healthy weight in the Early Years Foundation Stage
(EYFS) and life expectancy remained areas of concern. It was noted that
preventative work through TWIPP would be instrumental in addressing these
issues.

The Board were advised that smoking prevalence in Telford remained
significantly higher than national averages, with the area identified as an
outlier. A deep dive into this issue was being undertaken through the Annual
Public Health Report, which will be presented to the Board in September.

Page 5



Additional indicators, including those related to opioid use and health checks
via Clinical Practice Groups (CPGs), may be included in future reports as
required.

During the discussion, Members emphasised the importance of early years
support, particularly perinatal and postnatal care, as a key component of
prevention. The Board queried the extent to which improvements could be
achieved locally, noting that some issues required national-level action. The
Director of Public Health acknowledged the complexity of shifting long-term
outcomes. She highlighted the comprehensive nature of local plans, which
included partnership working and data-driven approaches, but noted that
broader cultural and national challenges also needed to be addressed.
Regional and national perspectives were being explored to support this work.

RESOLVED - that:

a) the current position regarding performance against strategy
priorities be noted

b) the use of date to influence delivery of the Health & Wellbeing
Strategy, targeting inequalities, and informing development of the
Integrated Care Partnership Strategy and Joint Forward Plan be
noted.

HWB16 TWIPP Overview Update

Members received a presentation from the Assurance and Integration
Programme Manager and Telford and Wrekin Place Lead providing an
overview of the work and impact of the Telford & Wrekin Integrated Place
Partnership (TWIPP). The presentation included a summary of current
programmes, neighbourhood working, and future priorities.

Members were informed that TWIPP became a formal sub-committee of the
Integrated Care Board (ICB)in September 2024, reflecting its strategic
importance. The partnership brought together a wide range of organisations
with a shared focus on improving outcomes, reducing inequalities, and
enhancing prevention.

The Board heard that TWIPP had used local intelligence to refine its priorities,
which now included supporting general practice, improving mental health and
outcomes for children and young people and promoting healthy ageing. A
wide range of programmes were being delivered under these themes.

Members were advised that TWIPP has adopted a flexible, person-centred
approach to their neighbourhood working. The aim was to wrap the right
services around individuals at the right time, supporting early diagnosis, self-
care, and social prescribing. Each of the four neighbourhood areas had
distinct needs, and the approach had been tailored accordingly.

The Live Well Hubs were highlighted as a key element of neighbourhood
working. The hub in Madeley, operated by the Town Council, was cited as a

Page 6



successful example of multi-agency collaboration, with a case study shared
during the presentation. Members were informed that professional
collaboration was a core component of the neighbourhood model, with regular
joint working events attracting strong attendance and positive feedback. It was
noted that over 100 professionals attended the most recent event in South
East Telford.

In Newport and Central Telford, development of Neighbourhood MDTs was
progressing, with TELDOC having operated a model since 2019. A new focus
has been agreed for Malinslee, with an emphasis on mental health. Members
heard that the Neighbourhood teams were working to better connect services
and raise awareness of available support.

Members were updated on the Prevention Grants Programme, which has
recently concluded. Funding has been awarded to support initiatives such as
the expansion of Live Well Hubs, Calm Cafés and care navigators for autistic
individuals and those with learning disabilities. The impact of these grants will
be monitored through TWIPP, with updates to be brought to future Board
meetings.

The Board were informed that a Health Conversation Campaign had also
been introduced, building on the "Making Every Contact Count" approach.
This included internal support for frontline workers and a public-facing
campaign, with a vaccination focus launching in August. Members were also
advised that the Sport England Place Expansion Opportunity would bring
additional resources and strategic support to the area.

In relation to healthy ageing and frailty, Members heard that TWIPP was
building on the successful Ageing Well consultation. Two key areas of focus
were a one-stop advice shop for residents and for advice and resources to be
consolidated for professional to access. It was expected that digital solutions
and intelligence were to be used to support this work.

The Board welcomed the balanced distribution of prevention projects across
neighbourhoods and priorities. Members emphasised the importance of
placing Live Well Hubs where they are most needed and highlighted the
importance of local authority leadership in areas such as housing and policing,
and stressed the need for the Board and the ICS to support and challenge
efforts to improve resident outcomes.

The Board noted the update and welcomed the progress made by TWIPP.

Members acknowledged the importance of partnership  working,
neighbourhood-level delivery, and continued investment in prevention.

HWB17 Better Care Fund Update

Members received a presentation from the Better Care Fund Commissioning
Lead, providing an update on the Better Care Fund (BCF) submission and
outlining key changes to the programme for the current year. The presentation

Page 7



included a summary of progress to date, national expectations, and future
priorities.

The Board were reminded of the upcoming submission deadline and were
asked to formally approve the BCF submission. Members were informed that
the new national administration had introduced clearer requirements, with a
simplified set of metrics and a strengthened governance assurance
framework. A particular emphasis had been placed on improving hospital
discharge arrangements and making better use of collective resources.

The Better Care Fund Commissioning Lead noted that there had been a
strategic shift from sickness to prevention, with a growing focus on the use
of digital technology. Members were informed of the introduction of Tech
Tuesdays, showcasing innovations such as epilepsy sensors and other tools
designed to improve the lives of people with complex conditions. There was a
renewed focus on supporting independent living, with performance metrics
centred on admission avoidance, hospital discharge, and long-term care.

The Board heard that national guidance now placed greater emphasis
on length of hospital stay, with a clear expectation that patients were
discharged as soon as they are clinically ready. Due to this, the effectiveness
of the enablement offer was being reviewed, including the impact of additional
funding for therapists received last year.

Members were advised that the end-of-year return had been completed, with
a strong focus on integration. The submitted plan is expected to be approved,
subject to conditions relating to performance metrics.

The Board were updated on work with community partners to promote
independence, including the role of the Care Transfer Hub in reducing length
of stay and improving discharge planning. A review of individual schemes had
been undertaken to assess whether funding could be reallocated, though
opportunities to do so remain limited.

Members noted their appreciation for the Better Care Fund Commissioning
Lead for their ongoing management of the fund, with Members acknowledging
the complexity of quarterly returns and the strategic alignment with broader
system goals. The Board emphasised the importance of neighbourhood
working and the challenges of reallocating resources, while supporting a
place-based approach. The Better Care Fund Commissioning Lead noted
improved integration, especially from hospitals, with a focus on reducing
length of stay and enhancing discharge pathways. Members reflected on the
increasingly collaborative nature of the process over recent years, and it was
confirmed that NHS England had recognised this positive shift.

RESOLVED - that:
a) the Better Care Fund Submission be approved

b) the Health & Wellbeing Board’s support for the progress to date
be noted

Page 8



c) that delegated authority to approve future submissions be granted
to the co-chairs

HWB18 Housing Strateqy Proposals Engagement

Members received an update from the Service Delivery Manager: Strategic
Housing & Regeneration on the Draft Housing Strategy 2025—-2030, which will
replace the current strategy as it nears the end of its term. The update
outlined key achievements of the previous strategy, including growth in the
private rented sector and the success of the Better Homes for All programme,
which has enabled inspections to ensure residents are living in safe and
satisfactory conditions.

The Board were advised that the new strategy was being scoped by reviewing
the current housing landscape and identifying changes since the adoption of
the previous strategy. These included a growing population, particularly
among older residents, a reduction in social housing availability and a
decrease in full poverty levels. Members heard that these factors had
significant implications for housing needs and priorities. The Service Delivery
Manager: Strategic Housing & Regeneration advised that there were also
national policy drivers such as delivery targets for new homes, affordable
housing, homelessness prevention and the Renters Reform Bill, which also
impacted the strategy.

Members heard that the proposed strategy prioritised ensuring that existing
homes were of the highest possible quality and providing housing that
supported vulnerable residents. The Service Delivery Manager: Strategic
Housing & Regeneration noted that the proposed strategy also recognised
that housing was a wider determinant of health.

The Board were informed that a successful consultation event had already
taken place, with strong engagement from partners across health, social care,
and community services. A key theme emerging from the consultation was the
importance of aligning housing with health priorities.

During the discussion Members noted the significance of housing as a social
determinant of health and praised the wide-ranging actions across sectors.
The Board were advised that proposed strategy was due to be presented to
Cabinet and encouraged broad resident engagement. Members supported the
focus on vulnerable residents and commended the inclusive engagement
process. Questions were raised about specialist accommodation and market
shaping, to which the Director: Housing, Employment & Infrastructure
responded that while progress had been made, especially in extra care, gaps
did remain. She outlined ongoing efforts to improve dementia care, support for
young people and care leavers, and collaboration with developers to meet
diverse housing needs.

RESOLVED - that the Draft Housing Strategy 2025-2030 as set out in
Appendix 1 be supported by the Health & Wellbeing Board.

Page 9



HWB19 Community Safety Partnership Annual Report

Members received the Community Safety Partnership Annual Report, which
provided an overview of progress made over the past 12 months and outlined
future priorities. The presentation included key performance data, strategic
developments, and partnership initiatives.

The Board were informed that overall crime levels in Telford & Wrekin had
reduced significantly, with a notable 40% reduction in robbery and a 19%
reduction in vehicle crime. These improvements reflected the effectiveness of
collaborative working across agencies.

Members heard that the Community Safety Partnership’s (CSP) new strategy
was to be focused on reducing reoffending, preventing serious violence,
tackling child sexual exploitation (CSE), reducing domestic abuse (DA) and
addressing youth violence and driving offences.

The Chief Inspector provided the Board with an update against some key
priority areas. Members heard that the annual report had been published and
scrutinised, with input from a CSE Lived Experience Coordinator, and the
Holly Project continued to inform learning and practice. The Chief Inspector
also advised that a CSE Awareness Week was held to raise awareness and
promote action. The Board were informed that the work around Domestic
Abuse had focused on older people and individuals with learning disabilities.
Partner agencies had received evidence-based strategies, and Clare’'s Law
applications were being promoted. The funding has supported initiatives such
as the Sanctuary Scheme (£1,500 allocation) and White Ribbon Days, which
were well received. The CSP continued to promote Safer, Stronger
Communities and had supported a range of community-led initiatives.
Members were asked to note that whilst there had been a 21% increase in
serious youth violence incidents, the evidence suggested that interventions
were having a positive impact and partnership working with the Council and
other agencies remained central to this effort. Ongoing efforts to improve road
safety had included holding regular meetings to address Deaths and Serious
Injuries, with a £10,000 Road Safety Fund being allocated to support a 12-
month awareness campaign, including workshops for young drivers and
passengers.

The Board emphasised the importance of police-resident feedback loops to
build trust and noted the Ride-Along Scheme to enhance transparency and
encouraged continued partnership working. Members raised concerns about
rough sleeping, youth engagement and the need for direct incident reporting.
The Chief Inspector acknowledged the enforcement challenges and stressed
that there was ongoing work being undertaken with local businesses.

The Board noted the report and welcomed the progress made by the
Community Safety Partnership. Members acknowledged the importance of
continued collaboration, community engagement, and targeted interventions
to improve safety and wellbeing across the borough.

Page 10



HWB20 Chair's Update

The Chair advised that the next meeting of the Health & Wellbeing Board
would be held on Thursday, 18 September 2025.

The meeting ended at 3.47 pm

Chairman:

Date: Thursday 18 September 2025

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Telford & Wrekin
Co-operative Gouncil

Health & Wellbeing Strategy
2023-2027

Delivery Progress Report
September 2025



T abed

Our vision - happier, healthier, fulfilled lives

starting we(|

aconomic alcohol, drugs
and domestic

opportunity <
abuse

sustainable
berough

integrated
neighbourhood [| prevent, protect
health and and detect

Borough Vision 2023 ambition — inclusive, healthy, independent lives



Closing the Gap

GT obed

Our HWB Strategy highlights that tackling inequalities and closing the gap
requires comprehensive action across our priority programmes, through a
strong targeted, intelligence-led approach. Addressing wider determinants
of health is crucial and the NHS has a particular focus on reducing health
inequalities through its

The gaps in health and wellbeing experience are most repeatedly seen in
our most deprived communities, compared to the most affluent
communities, the 20% most deprived communities, CORE20PLUS5
programme.

Particular and specific inequalities are also faced by different groups of
people, often referred to as inclusion groups and these are closely related
to characteristics which are protected in the Equalities Act.


https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/

Closing the Gap - overview of inequalities focus across HWB Strategy

Alcohol,
drugs &
domestic

-+ Strategy engagement focus groups with at-risk groups including people with

learning disabilities, mental health disorders, males, ages 55+, ethnic
minority groups, people living within our most deprived communities

Key priority for Healthy Weight Strategy is to create opportunities to support
groups facing inequalities including: children and adults with a learning
disability, physical disability or long-term health condition, as well as those
with a commaon mental health problem or serious mental iliness.

Schools health & wellbeing programme selects schoals to take part with the
highest rates of excess weight and those in our most deprived communities

Alcohol & drugs : Equality Impact Assessment completed alongside the Needs
Assessment. Equality Action Plan to be integrated into annual strategy Action

Plan, Ethnicity data now included in quarterly treatment monitoring data

Domestic Abuse: focus on families with complex and multiple needs. The DA
Forum assessing disproportionate impact of domestic abuse and lower service

uptake rates among under-served groups, improving joint working with faith
groups and BAME communities

1\ e cL B Start for Life Family Hubs: “core20” population, younger parents,
GG BRG] black & minority ethnic group families

Primary Care: All PCNs have nominated inequalities leads and
specific health inequality related projects in place for 24/25. Health
inequalities is one the prioritisation criteria the ICB Primary Care Team
use to target practices requiring improvement support.

Children & Young People who: have SEND, locked after/care leavers, those

who are NEET, and suffer multiple disadvantage and trauma

adults who experience poor mental health alongside other vulnerabilities such

as alcohol and drug use and housing needs

Initiatives targeted towards under-represented groups - people from lower
socio-economic groups, people from ethnically diverse communities and
people with disabilities/additional needs.

People living in the most deprived 20% of communities in England - the core 20
are a key focus given the gaps in life expectancy the most deprived and most

affluent communities.

Cancer screening: narrowing the gap in uptake of screening programmes across

GP practices, linked to deprivation

Cancer Champions & Health Champions representative of diverse communities

The Cost-of-living strategy is aimed at those residents in the Borough
on the lowest incomes, be they working age or pensioners.

People affected by trauma and poor mental health

Ongoing focus on homeless clients who present with complex and
multiple needs.

T&W HWB Strategy highlights that tackling inequalities and closing the gap requires comprehensive action across our priority
programmes, through a strong targeted, intelligence-led approach. The gaps in health and wellbeing experience are most
repeatedly seen in our most deprived communities, compared to the most affluent communities, the 20% most deprived
communities, CORE20PLUSS programme. Particular and specific inequalities are also faced by different groups of people, often
referred to as inclusion groups and these are closely related to characteristics which are protected in the Equalities Act.



https://www.england.nhs.uk/about/equality/equality-hub/national-healthcare-inequalities-improvement-programme/core20plus5/

Healthy Weight

Progress / Key Highlights

« Action plan: To enhance support for residents with learning disabilities and carers, involving Healthy
Lifestyles, Adult Social Care, and NHS LD services. Staff training opportunities identified

* Schools Health & Wellbeing Programme to include Eatwell training for staff in 2025/26

« Early Years nutrition guidance supported with tailored checklists for settings and childminders

* Physical activity pilots launched for priority groups including: Move to Thrive (dementia), Breakfast Yoga (peri-
/menopause), Wellbeing, Belonging and Moving for Serious Mental Health and iliness.

Bisks

X Nearly 40% of children leave primary school overweight; adult overweight and obesity nearing 70%

‘D Lack of Secondary schools with the Schools Health & Wellbeing Programme

iy Challenges implementing ‘Healthy Weight’ Training to frontline staff, primarily due to competing
organisational priorities (i.e. Options appraisal completion to deadline)

Performance Issues

* Healthy Families Programme supported 123 families in 2024/25

* This year’s reduced engagement, combined with insight of challenges will inform future service
development.

*  Opportunities for group education sessions combined with physical activity are being explored.



Alcohol, drugs & Domestic abuse

Domestic Abuse & VAWG (Violence Against
Women and Girls)

Progress / Key Highlights
Significant increase in SPOC contacts:
. 417 this quarter vs 306 last quarter.
Specialist Support Service referrals stable:
. 114 new referrals (vs 113).

*  No ring-fenced funding for VAWG prevention.

*  Current programmes rely on mixed funding
sources (DA Grant, Community Safety
Partnership, PCC).

*  Lack of central government funding limits

;? Open cases consistent: ~87 per month since
-8 April 2024.
= Children & Young People’s Service referrals
oo steady
e 44 this quarter (vs 50).
*  Average monthly caseloads remain around 31.
Risks

programme expansion.

Drug & Alcohol Treatment

Progress / Key Highlights

* Recovery month range of activities including the launch of the
Recovery Charter, with keynote by Dame Carol Black and
pledges given by a wide range of partnership organisations

Risks

*  PRH Alcohol Care Team disbanded, increasing pressure on
Drug & Alcohol Liaison Team (DALT).

*  DALT prioritising high-risk cases; limited capacity to see
individuals before hospital discharge.

* Elevated overdose risk due to rising availability of synthetic
opioids nationally.

Performance

* 434 new treatment presentations (year to May 2025), above
May 2022 baseline of 363

*  Adults in treatment:835, compared to 820 at baseline

e 75% continue treatment post-prison release (vs 53% baseline, 57%
national)

*  52% show positive progress (drug-free or sustained
reduction), above national rate of 47%

*  Young people in treatment:39 (vs 28 in May 2022)

* Naloxone issued to 81% of opiate-dependent individuals
(above 80% national rate)




Progress / Key Highlights

* Review of specialist mental health support framework underway; new provider engagement planned.

«  TWIPP funding secured to expand Calm Cafés with dedicated support for 18-25 year olds; launch
expected end of October.

« Strong partnership working evident across rehabilitation and inpatient care transformation programmes.

Risks

« -yMental Health Bill progression presents system-wide implications.
o —> A high-level briefing paper is being developed for senior social care officers. This sets
(D recommendation for a system-wide readiness group, ideally led by the ICB.

©Safeguard|ng Board engaged with MH Act Lead from MPFT for further insight.

Performance
Positive outcomes in specialist supported accommodation

Increased physical activity Reduced Isolation Improved self-care Community
engagement




Progress / Key Highlights

e o o OOZ QGEd °

Community Blood Pressure: Project funding secured until March 2026; strong engagement with
TACT, Armed Forces Day, and homeless community via KIP

Community NHS Health Checks (planning underway): via the ‘Healthy Hearts’ project, launching 3rd
September in partnership with SET PCN

Community Falls classes: Increases seen in attendance

Live Well Community Hubs: In Wellington and Donnington set to launch in October

Lingen Davies Sunflower Appeal launched to raise £5M for expanded cancer services at PRH; Cancer
Champions supporting rollout of NHS Lung Cancer Screening in South East Telford

HPV/MMR Vaccination Uptake project: Exploring extension of MoU to focus on MMR

Cancer Bus Tour visiting key locations; 3 out of 5 days secured for Telford

Health Champions programme: Growing, with volunteers trained in MECC and Feed the Birds
Healthy Lifestyles Stop Smoking Advisors recruitment

Risks

HPV/MMR vaccine uptake project: is time-limited; further investment required.

No risks for Cancer Champions: Now fully funded by Lingen Davies following the end of NHS Core20
and WM Cancer Alliance funding.

Physical activity projects: All funding-dependent; however these are either designed to be self-
sustainability over the long-term with public interest, or alternative funding are being explored.




Integrated Health and Care: Neighbourhood Health

Progress / Key Highlights: TWIPP
* Leadership transition: Louise Mills appointed as Place Lead,
ensuring continuity through existing relationships

* Neighbourhood Health Implementation Programme:
Expression of Interest submitted to join national cohort of 42
areas; potential access to coaching and peer learning

* Positive national recognition: Dr Claire Fuller (NHSE) praised
TWIPP’s resident-focused partnership approach

-;?Funding: £333,000 prevention budget allocated for 2025/26;

Q continuation of Community Blood Pressure Project secured until
)

I\)March 2026

°HStrategic alignment: TWIPP’s work supports Telford & Wrekin
Vision 2032 for inclusive, healthy, independent lives

* Expanded collaboration: Now includes Telford College, DWP,
and Shropshire Fire & Rescue

* Neighbourhood progress: MDTs active in TELDOC, Newport &
Central, and South East Telford; Live Well Hubs expanding to
Wellington and Donnington

* Healthy Conversations Campaign launched in August, aligned
with flu/COVID clinics; runs until December

Progress / Key Highlights: Family Hubs
* Damson Family Hub launched at Donnington
Community Hub and Silver Threads.

* Term-time drop-in sessions continue across
communities, Monday to Friday.

* Parenting courses now open access via the
website; 73 registrations to date.

« Government announced expansion of Best
Start Family Hubs; awaiting final grant
decisions.

* Renewed national focus on 75% of children
reaching a Good Level of Development by
2028.

 Telford & Wrekin currently at 67%, with a
target of 78%.

Risks
* Potential reduction in future funding linked to
Best Start Family Hub rollout.

* Venue identification still required for Newport
and Wellington hubs.




Green & Sustainable Borough

Progress / Key Highlights

Green Flag Awards: 8 sites recognised, including Telford Town Park (10th consecutive year) and Victoria Park (first-time
award).

Wildflower Expansion: Borough-wide shift to meadow-cut grass in selected areas to support pollinators and biodiversity.
Autumn sowing planned across parks and nature reserves.

Water Quality Initiatives: Blue-green algae detected in several pools due to prolonged warm weather. Council working with
anglers and volunteers on reed planting to improve filtration and restore habitats

- D Nature Reserve Improvements:

N Beeches & Lodge Fields: New bench, pathway, and step upgrades.

Horsehay Pool: Floating reed rafts and updated fishing pegs installed.

. Dawley Hamlets: Path and step improvements; signage/tree works underway.
Granville LNR: Path and natural play area completed.

Green Pledge Scheme: Approved by Cabinet to encourage landowners, businesses, and community groups to collaborate
in protecting and enhancing green spaces.

Play & Pitch Strategy: Under consultation; developed using Sport England methodology to ensure adequate and inclusive
pitch provision across the borough.

Local Nature Recovery Strategy (LNRS): Regional collaboration with Shropshire Council to map and deliver nature
recovery actions. Public consultation open; Telford & Wrekin supporting via comms and social media.

Tree Canopy Study: Commissioned from Treeconomics to assess urban forest cover, species diversity, and environmental
benefits including flood mitigation, carbon capture, and air pollution reduction.




Economic opportunity (1)

Progress / Key Highlights
« Connect to Work: Final agreement with DWP is nearly complete; launch set for September. Recruitment and
referral preparations are underway to meet early targets.
* Supported Internships: DfE funding renewed and increased, allowing expansion from 10 to 30 places. Telford
College will run two cohorts starting in September and January. Local employer interest is strong.
* Learn Telford: Successfully engaged minority communities, 45% of learners are from these groups, compared
to the borough average of 12%.
« Council Skills Strategy: Published and available online; outlines key issues and actions across various
themes.
-g Get Marches Working Plan: Led by Shropshire Council, funded by DWP. Aims to raise employment rate to
@ 80%. Broad consultation is ongoing; final plan due in late autumn.
N

Roi')sks

- Staff Recruitment: Challenge in hiring enough qualified staff in time for the Supported Internship Pilot and
Connect to Work. Recruitment is ongoing.

«  DWP Contract Delays: Previous delays in contract agreement affected progress, but clarity has now been
achieved and work is accelerating.

Performance Issues

* Learn Telford: Strong performance and impact.

« Connect to Work & Sl Pilot: Too early for performance data; will be available once programs are
operational.



Economic opportunity (2)

Progress / Key Highlights

* Unlocking Potential in Telford and Wrekin: Good and Fair Employment - collaborative, cross-sector group led by
Ann Johnson: Telford Implementation Lead for Lloyds Bank Foundation

* Mission to create equitable employment pathways, helping all residents, particularly those with complex needs, to
cultivate the confidence, resilience, and self-belief required for healthier working lives, rooted in Marmot Principles

* Two active working groups meet monthly:
7y Work Readiness Group: This group comprises public, private, and community organizations, including Landau,
g parts of the NHS, Enable, and Serco, focused on improving opportunities that support people, especially those with
@ complex needs, into employment. The group's work specifically targets the cultivation of confidence and resilience.
Telford Employer Group: Working alongside the Telford Business Board, group includes major employers: NHS,
Shropshire Fire Services, Telford College, CVS, Severn Hospice, Muller, Wrekin Housing Group, and Serco.

*  Current work being undertaken by the groups includes:

o Good and Fair Survey: An ongoing survey, open until October 4th, designed to understand the barriers residents
face in securing good and fair employment.

o Cross-Sector Collaboration: Developing opportunities for healthier workplaces and influencing work readiness and
skills funding in the area, focus on building relationships between employers and those who provide services

o Process Development: Influencing funding, commissioning, and strategies within the borough to ensure that those
with complex needs and those facing institutional barriers can access or retain good and fair employment.

o Theory of Change: being planned 12th November — to crystalise the changes in support and delivery for those with
complex, intersectional and institutional discrimination in current provision, setting out clear actions for change
informed by lived experience input, employers, service providers, good and fair work survey, earlier Re-imaging
Recruitment events and influencing group work and pre-event appreciative inquiry review.



Housing & Loneliness

Progress / Key Highlights

* Homelessness data is unchanged, covering period from April until June 2025:
* Advice Provided: 1137
* Homelessness Duty Owed: 404
*  Number of people prevented from homelessness: 116

Number of people relieved from Homelessness: 206

Risks
N

% More people with mobility or disability requiring specialist accommodation presenting as homeless.

N
(Berformance Issues: None



This page is intentionally left blank



b, Integrated

| Care System

Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin

General Practice in Telford and Wrekin - access update

Health & Wellbeing Board

18th September 2025

(July 2025 data)

NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

g Wwa)| epuaby



Executive Summary

* Access is improving on key same/next-day measures, with targeted support for practices showing negative variation

» All practices are within PCNs; this underpins extended access (particularly for CMP patients) and neighbourhood
delivery

* MGP roll-out is progressing care navigation, digital telephony, and “right care, first time” models are in place or
going live across T&W

-Q'QQI visits and data-driven support are focused on the small number of practices below national comparators
@y headline metrics

-Oo% appointments delivered same/next day - TW 58% vs ICB 53% vs England 51%

* % seen within 14 days - T&W 88% vs ICB 83% vs England 82%

* % of GP led appointments - TW 38% vs ICB 43% vs England 44%

* GP Patient Survey (GPPS) - year-on-year movement for ‘overall experience was good’ up from 66% to 72% in 2025

A
| & NHS




Access update

General Practice in Telford and
Wrekin - Access update July
2025

6¢ obed




General Practice Contract 2025-2026

o€ abed

@ NHS GP CONTRACT CHANGES

°  WHATS
HAPPENING?

Shift towards:
« Community-based care

+ Prevention
« Digital-first approach
+ Reducing bureaucracy

&R0

[—“ DIGITAL “—]

Online consultation tool must be open

during all core hours from October
2025 GP Connect functionality
required to enable:

+ Read-only access to patient records

for other NHS providers

« Community pharmacy professionals
can send consultation summaries to

GP practices

FMPACT ON PRACTICE

* Reduced administrative burden

« Greater flexibility in workforce
planning

* Increased financial support

* Improved information sharing
between healthcare providers

+ Enhanced support for patient
safety reporting

2025/26

,\E%@M AT A GLANCE

—

——

ETHCPRIMARY CARE

_-— r FUNDING T

+ £88% million overall increase in
investment (7.2% cash growth)

+ Total contract value rises from
£12,287mto £13,176m

+ |ncreased item of service fees
for vaccinations

+ Locum reimbursement rate
increases

SX
+— [_ ARRS _]

+ Funding pots combined for more
flexibility

* No restrictions on numbers or
type of staff

* MNow includes GPs and practice
nurses GP salary reimbursement
increased from £73,113 to
£82,418

T e

. T

IMPACTON I'A'I'IENTQ

* Improved access to GP services

= Greater transparency through a
new patient charter

+ Enhanced digital access options

+ Better cardiovascular disease
prevention

7

NHS 10 Year Plan

National three shifts:

Hospital to community
Sickness to prevention
Analogue (paper-based) to digital

The Goal

Deliver better care, utilise new
technologies and medicines, and
create a more sustainable health

service that focuses on patient
convenience and well-being.




General Practice Contract 2025/26

Three new contract requirements from 15t October 2025

> Online Consultation tools switched on for the duration of core hours

EJ You and Your General Practice must be on practice websites

«Q
% GP Connect Access Record (HTML and Structured) and Update Record must be enabled within GP
Practice clinical systems

Practices are on track to deliver against these.

A
| & NHSEH




National context - Modern General Practice & 2025/26

priorities

Modern General Practice (MGP) model:

e Care navigation & triage: directing to the right clinician/service first time (including pharmacy, MSK, mental
health, PCN roles).

* Digital & telephony: modern cloud telephony with call-back, real-time queuing, and demand insights; online
requests triaged within safe timeframes.

 Same-day urgent, timely routine: urgent needs handled same/next day; routine within agreed windows;
continuity for complex/CMP cohorts.

Z2€ abed

* Data-driven improvement: using GPAD/GP Connect/telephony dashboards to match capacity to demand.

2025/26 national priorities:
* Sustain/expand MGP, reduce unwarranted variation in access.
* Improve patient experience on access (GPPS questions), digital inclusion, and continuity for complex patients.
e Utilise Additional Roles (ARRS/PCN) to increase non-GP capacity where appropriate.
jﬁwgthen neighbourhood integration with community, urgent care, and pharmacy.

W NHS




Telford and Wrekin 2025/26 Plan

Priorities for this year:

* Access & experience: same/next-day for urgent need; 14-day for routine; uplift GPPS access scores.

 MGP implementation: universal care navigation; full digital telephony with call-back; safe online triage flows.
* Extended access at PCN level: coordinated evening/weekend capacity with focus on CMP patients.

* Workforce mix: increased use of other HCPs (pharmacists, physios/First Contact Practitioners,

5 PAs/ANPs/Paramedics) to free GP time for complex care.

% Neighbourhood model: primary care as the front-door in place-based teams (community, pharmacy, VCSE, mental
whealth).
w
* Support offers available to practices/PCNs:
* Access improvement coaching & demand/capacity modelling.
* Digital telephony optimisation & care navigation training.
* QI collaboratives; peer support; targeted data packs.
* Pharmacy pathways (e.g., CPCS/Pharmacy First), MSK first contact, mental health practitioners.

A
| & NHS




Patient Access

GP Dashboard and Local
Metrics
Patient Access

v abed




Current performance - Access

Same/Next-Day & 14-Day Access

* % appointments delivered same/next day - TW 58% vs ICB 53% vs
England 51%

%% seen within 14 days - T&W 88% vs ICB 83% vs England 82%
*'% of GP led appointments - TW 38% vs ICB 43% vs England 44%

NHS¥



Percentage increase in total GP appointments (latest

24 month period)

30

o¢ abed

STW England

NHSP



Percentage increase in appointments since the

pandemic (to July 2025)

25

20

15

/€ abed

10

&)

STW England




Total number of appointments in the latest month

compared to same month In the previous year

000000

8¢ abed

000000

000000

000000

July 24 July 25




Appointment mode - latest month (July 2025)

T&W Eng STW

B FZF ®Telephone MW Other B Unknown

6E abed

100%
S0%
80%
70%
60%
20%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%

T&W Eng STW
F2F 59% 63% B64%
Telephone 2009 25% 219
Other 209 994 13%

Unknown 0% 2% 2%

« General Practice appointments

can take place by a number of
different modes the main being
Face to Face and Telephone
appointments. Some others
included Home Visits and Video
Consultations

Telford & Wrekin have a slightly
lower percentage of F2F and
Telephone appointments
compared to England and
Shropshire Telford and Wrekin as a
whole

NHS*



Appointment wait - latest month (July 2025)

0t abed

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
20 %
40%
30%
20%
10%
0%
T&W Eng STwW
m0-1Day m2-14 Days

T&W Eng STW

0-1 Day 28% 21% 23%

2-14 Days 30% 31% 30%

0-14 Days

88% 82% 83%

The time patients spend
between booking an
appointment and being seen is
represented in this chart.
Telford & Wrekin practices
report a higher percentage of
their patients being seen within
14 days of booking their
appointment than those who
booked an appointment in
England and in Shropshire,
Telford and Wrekin as a whole.
This was due to having a higher
level of same/next day
appointments than Eng and

STW.
NHSH



o
1=
©
et
2>
o
)
[ —
=)
E
N
i
oJ
2>
i
)
[ =
(=)
E
|
3
[ —
)
E
)
m
(=]
Q.
Q.
(4
<

®
o
®
o
=

140,000

120,000

100,000

c0,000

60,000

40,000

20,000

Gg-ady
¥Z-22(
ve-8ny
fg-1dy
£g-22(Q
gg-sny
gg-1dy
gg-22Q
ce-8ny
ge-dy
12-22Q
Tg-8ny
Tg-dy
0Z-22Q
0c-8ny
0g-dy
6T-22Q
61-8ny
6T-dy

B M onthly e 12MRA

Page 41

n
3|




Ease of appointments for TW (all appointment categories)

compared to STW and England - July 2025

2 obed

100%
S0%
0%
70%
0%
0%
A0%
30%
20%
10%

0%

0-1 Day

0-14 Day F2F

OT&EW X NHSE € 5TwW

GP Led

NHSP



General Practice Survey
2025 Feedback

¢ abed




GP Patient Survey - year-on-year (T&W practices only)

Variation

* Practices = national benchmark (Overall experience =75%):
[1]

* Practices < benchmark: [6] (a few 210pp below; under
targeted support)

« Variation in phone/digital clustered by PCN, not simple rural
vs urban split

Improvement vs 2024

* QOverall experience (76% — 80%)

* Online access ease (59% — 63%)

Behind national A\

* Phone access (67% — 63%)

* Wait times (69% vs 72%)

A
[ NHSHK

v abed




GP Patient Survey 2025 STW ICB Summary

Headlines (ICB-level)

LIl Response rate: 37% (5,827 / 15,821)
g% Overall experience: 80% “Good” (1 from 76% in 2024; vs 75% national)
~ Q5 Phone easy to get through: 63% (| vs 2024; ~8pp below national 71%)
/m) Online access easy: 63% (1 from 59% in 2024; still below national 71%)
X Wait “about right”: 69% (vs 72% national)
(M) ¢ Clinician interaction rated “Good”: 68%

A
| & NHS




National GP Patient Survey results - summary

80

« Comparing 2025 results
to 2024, TW practices
have improved

considerably on these
three key metrics

 TW practices have
moved much closer to
the national averages for
each metric in the last

2024 2025 2024 2025 year

TW national

M overall experience was good

75

70

65

60

o abed

55

50

M experience of contacting GP was good
B wait for appointment was about right

NHS ¥




Practice Level Support (PLS) - Telford & Wrekin

Cohort:
» 8 practices identified across STW ICB
4 are in Telford & Wrekin
« Selection based on access variation, GPPS results, assurance indicators
Timeline:
* Programme launch: end of September 2025
» Improvement cycles (8—12 weeks) through Q3/Q4
PLS Offer (core components):
5 bl Data-driven diagnostics — demand & capacity modelling, telephony analytics, appointment ledger
review
28 On-site QI support — workflow mapping, care navigation, digital triage pathways
. Targeted interventions — telephony optimisation, demand-management tools, access templates
« & Peer support & best practice — exemplar SOPs, staff training modules
. Monitoring & assurance — time-bound improvement plans, follow-up via Primary Care Quality
Framework
Expected outcomes:
* Reduce variation in access (same/next-day, 14-day)
* Improve GPPS access scores
AL » Enhance patient experience of telephony/digital routes

' - Build sustainable improvement capacity within practices m
21

Q
™
SN

'\1




Primary Care Pillars

Other Sectors of Primary Care
Supporting Improved Patient
Access

81 abed




Optometry First new community service

PJ'imarg
£yecare [T

Symptoms

D
« JAred or painful eye
+ ©mething in your eye, that
won't come out
+ Sudden change in vision
» Flashes or floaters [flashing
lights or floating shapes) in your
vision
» New eyelid lump or lesion

Freee NHS appointments available at local
opticians.

Primary Eyecare services are the new provider from July 15t
Phased mobilisation is underway and scheduled for all
services to be operational by 315t January 2026

CUES (community urgent eyecare service) is the main
service to be offered

Other services include;

Cataract referral filtering and post-op assessment
Glaucoma Enhanced Case Finding (ECF), Repeat Readings
(RR) and low-risk monitoring

Medical Retina referral filtering and low risk monitoring
Integrated Paediatric eye care service

NHSH



Pharmacy First

* This service enables patients to get certain prescription medications directly
from a pharmacy, without a GP appointment

* It frees up GP appointments for patients who need them most and will give
people quicker and more convenient access to safe and high quality
healthcare

¢ This includes the supply of appropriate medicines for 7 common conditions

% including earache, sore throat, and urinary tract infections, aiming to
address health issues before they get worse.

« Currently, NHS patients in England must visit their GP to access prescription
only medication, meaning repeated GP visits and delays in treatment

Ak

) NHSH




j), Integrated Agendﬁﬁn 9

' Car‘e SyStem Shropshire, Telford
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin and Wrekin

1. Healthy Ageing Strategy 2025-2028

Meeting Name: Telford & Wrekin HWBB
Meeting Date: 18 September 2025
Report Presented by: Vanessa Whatley, Chief Nursing Officer
Report Approved by: Vanessa Whatley, Chief Nursing Officer
Report Prepared by: Lorna Watkins, Strategy Development Manager
Action Required: To support the Healthy Ageing Strategy
1) Note the Healthy Ageing Strategy 2025-2028 fully aligns with both Health and
Wellbeing Strategies and SHIPP and TWIPP priorities.
2) The Health and Wellbeing Board supports the Healthy Ageing Strategy
Implementation.

1.1. Purpose
The purpose of this report is to support a 3-year strategy Healthy Ageing
Strategy for care of those who have or at risk of developing frailty as they age.
The strategy’s vision is to enable people in Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin to
age well by living longer, healthier, and more independent lives though
extending healthy life expectancy, reducing inequalities, and ensuring that all
individuals, experience an improved quality of life as they age. This will be
delivered though through proactive, personalised, and compassionate care in
a strongly Place-led, neighbourhood model, in which we will support our
communities to thrive at every stage of later life.

1.2. Executive Summary

1.2.1. The Healthy Ageing Strategy sets out a system-wide approach to support
residents in Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin to age well. It focuses on
prevention, early identification, and coordinated care for those at risk of or
living with frailty. The strategy is aligned with national priorities including the
NHS 10-Year plan and local strategies such as the JFP (Joint Forward Plan)
and Ageing well initiatives. It is built on public health data and shaped by
engagement with residents, professionals and community partners.

1.3. Recommendations
1.3.1. Note the Healthy Ageing Strategy 2025-2028 fully aligns with both Health
and Wellbeing Strategies and SHIPP and TWIPP priorities.
1.3.2. The Health and Wellbeing Board supports the Healthy Ageing Strategy
Implementation.

1.4. Conflicts of Interest
1.4.1. There are no conflicts of interest identified

1.5. Links to the System Board Assurance Framework (SBAF)
1.5.1. The Healthy Ageing Strategy supports the SBAF with the delivery of
strategic objectives related to population health, reducing inequalities, and
improving care outcome. The strategy addresses risks related to increasing

.ﬁ‘.
Ambition @ Compa@e a Optimism



demand on health and care services due to an ageing population and
contributed to mitigations through proactive care, community-based support
and digital innovation.

1.6. Alignment to Integrated Care Board

1.6.1. The strategy is closely aligned with the Integrated Care Board’s (ICB)
strategic objectives to improve population health, reduce health inequalities,
and deliver sustainable, high-quality services. It supports the transition from
reactive to proactive care and from hospital-based to community-based
models. Frailty was formally identified as a commissioning priority by the ICB
in January 2025, and this strategy provides a framework for achieving the
associated success criteria and outcomes. At a national level, frailty has been
recognised as a key priority due to its significant impact on urgent and
emergency care services, contributing to increased demand and system
pressures.

The strategy directly supports several national priorities, including:

- Hospital to Community: Promoting care closer to home and reducing
reliance on acute services.

- Analogue to Digital: Enabling digital transformation in care planning,
assessment, and service delivery, while ensuring inclusivity for those less
confident with digijtal tools.

1.7. Key Considerations

1.7.1. Quality and Safety: The number of people at risk of frailty is growing, and
with it an increase in the need for health and care services. Years or decades
spent in ill health mean personal suffering, strain on families resulting oin
poor health outcomes and reliance on emergency services if proactive
services are not in place.

1.7.2. Financial Implications: The trajectory of frailty accelerates and increasing
frailty means increased care costs. After adjusting for sociodemographic
factors, annual healthcare costs double for people with mild frailty compared
to ‘fit’ older adults, tripled for the moderately frail and quadrupled for the
severely frail. Preventing, slowing or proactively addressing frailty reduce
these costs.

1.7.3. Workforce Implications: Includes training and education programmes for
staff, promotes co-production and quality improvement.

1.7.4. Risks and Mitigations: Risks include inconsistent implementation and
digital exclusion; mitigated through inclusive design and evaluation. The risk
of not having a strategy to address frailty is likely to result in increased
unplanned demand and lack of predication of health and care services
required.

1.7.5. Engagement: Strategy shaped by extensive engagement with residents,
VCSE Partners and professionals.

Ambition @ Co@age?oSﬂ Optimism



1.8.

1.9.

1.7.6. Supporting Data and Analysis: Based on public health data and local
population projections; includes estimates of frailty prevalence. A public
health approach has been taken using risk stratification to identify the impact
of frailty on the population in both places. Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin is
currently home to around 118,000 over 65-year-olds, which is expected to
swell to around 162,000 by 2035. We estimate there are around 45,000
people aged over 65 living with mild frailty, 19,000 moderately frail and
6,000 with severe frailty due to the lack of active use of the data sources and
clinical verification this is expected to have underestimated the numbers of
those who mildly or moderately frail compared to national benchmarks.

1.7.7. Legal, Regulatory, and Equality: Integrated Impact Assessment has been
completed; strategy addresses disparities by deprivation and ethnicity. This
strategy will positively impact on the protected characteristic of age. It has a
targeted neighbourhood approach to ensure inclusivity and appropriate
organisation of services to support diverse communities in the STW system in
order to reduce health inequalities.

Impact Assessments
1.8.1. Has a Data Protection Impact Assessment been undertaken? No
1.8.2. Has an Integrated Impact Assessment been undertaken? Yes

Attachments

1.9.1. Appendix A: Healthy Ageing Strategy 2025-2028
Appendix B: Integrated Impact Assessment
Appendix C: Public and Professional consultation summary
Appendix D: Supporting Information

Main Report

. Introduction

The report seeks approval for a three-year strategy focused on the care and
support of individuals who are living with, or at risk of developing, frailty as they
age. The strategy sets out a vision for enabling people in Shropshire, Telford and
Wrekin to age well—living longer, healthier, and more independent lives. This will be
achieved by extending healthy life expectancy, reducing health inequalities, and
enhancing quality of life through proactive, personalised, and compassionate care.
The approach is rooted in a Place-based, neighbourhood model that empowers
communities to thrive at every stage of later life.

The strategy aims to prevent frailty improve outcomes for people living with frailty
by:

Increasing healthy life expectancy

Reducing health inequalities

Enhancing the experience of patients and carers

Slowing the growth in demand for health and care services

To achieve these aims, the strategy sets out the following objectives:

Page 53



2.2,

2.3.

Improve public and workforce understanding of frailty and awareness of available
support services

Delay the onset of frailty and reduce disparities in its development

Slow the progression of frailty and address inequities in outcomes

Enhance the quality of life for individuals with moderate to severe frailty
Strengthen care coordination and planning for those with severe frailty through
better use of digital tools

Deliver services closer to home through a neighbourhood-based model

Reduce unplanned care and emergency attendances related to frailty, thereby
decreasing avoidable hospital admissions

Background

Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin has a growing population of older people, with
significant numbers at risk of frailty. The strategy responds to this challenge with a
public health approach and alignment to national and local strategies and
priorities.

Frailty is a medical clinical term that refers to a reduction in physical and mental
resilience, which increases an individual's vulnerability to adverse health outcomes
such as illness, injury, or bereavement. This condition significantly impacts quality
of life and is associated with a heightened risk of mortality, disability, dementia,
hospitalisation, falls, and the need for long-term care.

It is important to recognise that frailty exists on a spectrum ranging from mild to
severe. Many individuals living with frailty continue to lead independent and
fulfilling lives, often with varying levels of support. While the likelihood of
developing frailty increases with age, it is not an inevitable consequence of ageing.
At different points along the spectrum, frailty can be prevented, delayed, reversed,
or effectively managed.

Although commonly associated with older age, frailty can also develop earlier in life,
particularly among individuals who experience an accumulation of health risks. This
strategy primarily addresses age-related frailty, but it also incorporates a
preventative focus aimed at younger populations. As the approach evolves, it will
retain the flexibility to adapt to a broader range of needs.

Certain groups face a higher risk of early-onset frailty, including those living in
socioeconomically deprived areas, some ethnic minority communities, and
individuals with chronic health conditions. Given the growing number of people
affected by frailty, it has become a national priority. Without a personalised and
proactive approach, the increasing prevalence of frailty poses a significant risk of
placing additional strain on urgent and emergency services, as well as on primary
care.

Main Body of report

The Healthy Ageing Strategy is structured around five interdependent pillars—
Educate, Prevent, Identify, Manage, and Care—which together form a

Ambition @ Co@agéoS;@ Optimism



2.4.

comprehensive framework for improving outcomes for people at risk of or living
with frailty.

o Educate: Focuses on increasing awareness and understanding of frailty among
the public, carers, and the health and care workforce. This includes promoting
knowledge about prevention, early signs, and available support services, as well
as embedding frailty education into professional development programmes.

¢ Prevent: Aims to delay the onset of frailty through targeted interventions,
lifestyle support, and proactive outreach. This includes universal prevention
offers, such as health education resources and signposting to community-based
services, particularly for those aged 50+ who are at increased risk.

o Identify: Establishes consistent and reliable methods for identifying individuals
at risk of frailty or those already experiencing it. This includes the use of
validated assessment tools, shared care records, and population health data to
support early detection and personalised care planning.

e Manage: Supports individuals with mild to moderate frailty through coordinated
care pathways, digital tools, and proactive case management. It also focuses on
reducing progression to severe frailty by ensuring timely interventions and
equitable access to services.

o Care: Enhances support for people with severe frailty and their carers through
comprehensive geriatric assessments, advance care planning, and improved
end-of-life care. It prioritises dignity, choice, and continuity of care, with a strong
emphasis on reducing unplanned hospital admissions and supporting care in
preferred settings.

The strategy sets out clear objectives aligned to these pillars, including;:
e Reducing the onset and progression of frailty
o Improving quality of life for individuals with frailty
¢ Reducing reliance on unplanned and acute care services
o Addressing inequalities in frailty outcomes across different communities

To support delivery, the strategy includes a three-year implementation plan with
defined milestones for each year. These milestones cover workforce training, digital
enablement, service redesign, and community engagement. Progress will be
monitored through a robust evaluation framework, which includes both process
and outcome measures, such as:

o Uptake of frailty assessments and care plans

¢ Reduction in emergency admissions related to frailty

e Improvements in patient-reported outcomes and experience

¢ Reduction in disparities by deprivation and ethnicity

Oversight will be provided by the Healthy Ageing Strategy Steering Group, which will

ensure alignment with national guidance, local priorities, and system-wide
transformation programmes.

Conclusion
The strategy provides a clear, evidence-based roadmap for improving outcomes for

older residents and ensuring the sustainability of health and care services. It
reflects the voices of our communities and the commitment of our system partners.

Page 55



2.5. Recommendations

2.5.1Note the Healthy Ageing Strategy 2025-2028 fully aligns with both Health and
Wellbeing Strategies and SHIPP and TWIPP priorities.

2.5.2The Health and Wellbeing Board supports the Healthy Ageing Strategy
Implementation.

o A\
Ambition @ COP@@EQ Optimism Focus




). [ntegrated !lZlE

J Care System Shropshire, Telford
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin a nd Wre ki n

Healthy Ageing Strategy

2025-2028
DRAFT v4.0

“Not all older people are frail, and frailty is not an inevitable part of
ageing.”

British Geriatric Society

Page 57 1




Contents

INEFOTUCTION ...ttt e et e e e e e e e e et e e e e e e st eeeeeas 3
Listening to our residents: How we shaped the Healthy Ageing Strategy............cccccccoiiiiiiiiinnnnns 3
Why is it important to age Well? ... 4
How this links to other local and national WOrk?...............oeiiiiiiiii e 4
How many people are affeCted? ... e 5
LAY = A7 IR Y= o o I PR 5
How will we know we are Making PrOgreSS?.... ... uuuuuuuuueiurnneiieiiruiiieiinineissinsseseensesnnnnesnesnnnneennnnnnnne 8
HOW Will WE MONItOT PrOGIrESST ..uuuii i eei ettt e e e e e e e et a e e e e e e e e e rart e e e eeaes 10
107 0] o ] 11 1= o o 1SRRI 10
=] (=T = o 10

Page 58 2




Introduction

The Healthy Ageing Strategy aims to create the basis for a cultural change in how we think about
and respond to frailty and ageing across Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin. It supports a shift from
hospital-based care to care in the community, involving local authorities, voluntary and community
organisations, and primary and community health services. It aligns with England’s 10-Year Health
Plan and local ageing well strategies, all shaped by public engagement.

This strategy takes a public health approach and is built on public health data showing how our
population is ageing, how many people may become frail, and how long they live in good or poor
health.

Listening to residents and professionals was central to shaping the strategy.

Listening to our residents: How we shaped the Healthy Ageing
Strategy

We undertook a consultation of residents and those working in the care of people as they age
including health and social care, voluntary and community sector organisations in Shropshire,
Telford and Wrekin. Residents and professionals shared valuable insights that have helped shape
our approach and a summary of the findings is available on our website.

Our residents clearly told us that they understood the term frailty but preferred to call the strategy,
and resulting services, something different that was more inclusive of those who are being
prevented from developing frailty though to severe frailty. Some communities found the term
particularly upsetting. Although frailty is a medical term which is defined by the British Geriatrics
Association as a distinctive health state related to the ageing process in which multiple body
systems gradually lose their in-built reserves, and we need to use it describe some of the aims of
this strategy, we have called the strategy Healthy Ageing and will use this terminology wherever
practical.

A key message from the engagement was the importance of involving people who are considered
frail or needing to age healthily, in decisions about their own care. We intend to plan for this,
especially through the shift from hospital to community-based care and healthy ageing (prevention).
This supports the view of 69% of residents who felt that frailty is a condition that can be prevented,
delayed, or managed with the right care and support. While many associated frailty with reduced
mobility, frequent falls, personal vulnerability, and difficulty with daily tasks, they also highlighted
broader challenges:

e Limited access to services in rural areas
¢ Rising costs of non-NHS support services impacting household budgets
¢ Inconsistent service availability across the county.

When seeking support, residents said they typically turn to their primary care services or someone
with lived experience of frailty. In some communities, faith groups play a key role in providing
support. However, most participants who thought they should, did not believe they had received a
clinical assessment for frailty.

Health priorities varied: those in poorer health focused on accessing healthcare services, while
those in better health emphasised staying physically active.

We are deeply grateful to all residents, voluntary and community sector organisations and health
and care professionals who contributed to this consultation. We will commit to updating progress on
the strategy through our media channels to keep the public informed.

Page 59




Why is it important to age well?

Ageing well is essential for maintaining a good quality of life. Without proactive support, residents
face increased risks of poor health outcomes including disability, dementia, hospital admissions,
falls, and the need for long-term care.

Frailty is not a fixed condition; it exists on a spectrum from mild to severe. Many people living with
frailty remain independent and lead fulfilling lives with the right support. While the likelihood of frailty
increases with age, it is not inevitable. At various stages, frailty can be prevented, delayed, reversed,
or managed.

Frailty can also affect younger residents, particularly those with multiple health conditions. The risk
of early frailty is higher among people living in deprivation, some ethnic minority groups, and those
with long-term health issues.

Our residents have told us that avoiding emergency hospital visits is a priority for them. This aligns
with the national NHS goal to support people in managing their health proactively and within their
communities, reducing reliance on hospital-based care. This is a move known as the hospital-to-
community shift.

Frailty is a national priority because the number of people at risk is growing. This increase brings
greater demand for health and care services. Living for years—or even decades—in poor health
leads to personal suffering, pressure on families, and strain on health and social care systems.

Evidence shows that once frailty becomes established, its progression can accelerate. As frailty
increases, so do care needs and associated costs. That’s why delaying its onset and managing it
effectively is vital, not only for the wellbeing of our residents but also for the long-term sustainability
of health and care services, both financially and environmentally.

How this links to other local and national work?

Figures 1 shows how this strategy will improve healthy ageing and frailty in STW fitting with local
and national priorities, and the relationship with other strategies that aim to prevent and support
those with conditions related to frailty.

Figure 1
Links to Shropshire, Telford & Links to National Policies and
Wrekin Strateqic Priorities Initiatives
e All Age Autism Strategy e Be Proactive: Proactive care for older
e Dementia Vision Pathway people with frailty — British Geriatrics
e Health and Care Pathways Society
Development (Hospital Transformation e Chief Medical Officers Annual Report
Programme and Local Care) 2023: Health in an ageing society
e Long Term Conditions Strategy e Geriatric medicine — Getting it Right
e Musculoskeletal Transformation First Time
Programme e NHS 10year Plan
Shropshire HWBB Priorities ¢ NHS England Personalised Care
e Shropshire Integrated Place Partnership e NHS Neighbourhood Guidelines
Priorities e NHS Proactive Care: Providing care and
e Shropshire Plan support for people living at home with
e Shropshire Preventions Framework moderate or severe frailty
e Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin e Skills for Health Frailty Framework

Commissioning Priorities
o Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin Joint
Forward Plan

Page 60 4




e Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin
Neighbourhood Approach

o Telford & Wrekin Ageing Well Strategy

o Telford & Wrekin Health Wellbeing
Strategy

o Telford & Wrekin Integrated place
partnership Priorities

e Telford & Wrekin Vision 2032

e Urgent Emergency Care Improvement
Plan

How many people are affected?

Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin is currently home to around 118,000 over 65-year-olds, which is
expected to increase to around 162,000 by 2035. We estimate there are around 45,000 people
aged over 65 living with mild frailty, 19,000 moderately frail and 6,000 with severe frailty. More
details about the local population and estimated numbers living with frailty, are provided in the
accompanying Supporting Information.

In Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin we have a larger proportion of people aged over 65 than
nationally (22% compared to 18% across England), along with significant numbers at risk of earlier
onset frailty, such as people who live in deprivation and those from Pakistani and Bangladeshi
communities. On average our residents live the final 17-22 years of life in poor health, and there is
a gap of up to 12 years between the healthy life expectancy of the most and least deprived. So,
reducing the number of years lived in poor health, particularly for the most deprived who live the
longest in poor health, is where the opportunity lies for improving quality of life for our residents
whilst slowing the growth in health and care costs.

What will we do?

This strategy aims to address healthy ageing and co-ordinated healthcare support to those with
frailty who are resident in our population aged over 65, and those over 50 who are at higher risk of
early frailty as a priority. However, some of the aims of the strategy means that younger people and
those with lower risk may benefit.

The Healthy Ageing Strategy is organised into five pillars that show how we will tackle healthy
ageing. These are

e educate,

e prevent,

e identify,

e manage and
e care.

Through these pillars we will address the feedback from our residents including avoiding fragmented
care, improving the recognition of frailty and looking at any gaps in services. Our health and care
professionals told us that where digital can help it should be enabled but we also recognise that our
residents told us not everybody is confident with accessing digital services for their healthcare needs
so we will make adjustments for this.

We recognise that healthy ageing must be inclusive of all communities, including neurodiverse
residents and those from the LGBTQ+ community. Residents with learning disability and autism may
experience barriers to accessing health and care services and may be at increased risk of early
frailty due to co-occurring physical and mental health conditions.

Page 61 5




Similarly, older LGBTQ+ residents may face unique challenges such as social isolation, historical
discrimination, and reduced access to culturally competent care.

Our strategy will ensure that services are designed and delivered in ways that are sensitive to these
needs, drawing on the All-Age Autism Strategy and working with community partners to promote
equity, dignity, and personalised support for all. This includes ensuring assessments and care plans
reflect individual identity, lived experience, and preferences, and that staff are trained to provide
inclusive care.

The ambitions relating to each of these pillars are set out in the illustration below.

Page 62 6




The Five Pillars of our Healthy Ageing Strategy

Identify

Care

Increase public and
workforce awareness
about the impact of
frailty

Galvanise system and
population to increase action
needed to reduce years lived in
poor health

Improve awareness of changing
population, health risks and
implications for frailty projections

“UEmphasise importance of
Q) lifecourse approach “healthy
(© ageing doesn't start at 65°

9]
Challenge negative stereotypes
wand normalise conversations
about health and wellbeing in
later life

Improve health literacy and
population activation

Educate wider workforce and
population around EDI and links
to health

Local care neighbourhood approach e

Delay onset and slow
progression of mild
frailty

Empower our population to
reduce their risk of frailty, falls
and cognitive decline through
healthy places and enabling
healthy choices; exploit
synergy with existing
lifecourse sirategies

Target supported prevention
where need is greatest

Educate our population, wider
workforce and VCSE to
recognise early frailty and
know what to do

Recognise frailty in younger
people with social and clinical
rnisk factors

Use data and
opportunistic screening
to systematically identify
frailty

Use risk stratification and
proactive offers of prevention,
assessment and support

Opportunistic screening for
frailty, falls risk and cognitive
decline

Regular reassessment,
escalating to CGA as
indicated

Use of OHC to enable nisk
stratification and seamless
care

Improve data quality for EDI
indicators

Embed health outcome
measures across all services

Manage moderate and
severe frailty proactively
and holistically in the
community

Scale-up NHS Anticipatory
Care pilot to provide
proactive, holistic MDT
assessment and personalised
support to moderately and
severely frail

Actively support carers and
care homes and work in
synergy with VCSE

Embed advance care
planning for severely frail

Prevent deconditioning in
care homes, wards, on
waiting lists and after acute
iliness

Provide unplanned care
that minimises
deterioration and optimise
end of life experience

Ensure Urgent Community
Response and End of Life
pathways are well understood
by partners and patients

Provide timely acute care at
home to avoid admission or to
support early discharge

Provide frailty-specific virtual
beds and embed CGA

Provide frailty-specific MDT
care in acute sefting to
reduce length of stage and
prevent deconditioning

Information sharing and co-
ordinated post-crisis support
and follow-up

Identify and register those
nearing end of life, Advance
Care Plan and record
preferred place of death

Data-driven and digitally enabled




Our objectives are described in the box below.

1. Improve understanding about healthy ageing
Increase public and workforce understanding of the impact of frailty and how to prevent, delay, identify
and manage it.

2. Delay and level-up the onset of frailty

Increase the proportion of residents who are at risk of fraily or mildly frail, compared to moderately or
severely frail

Reduce the variation in the deprivation and ethnic profile of frail adults, both in the proportion who are frail
and the average age of frailty onset.

3. Slow down and level-up the progression of frailty

Increase the proportion of moderately frail adults with a frailty assessment score and co-produced care
plan recorded in a shared-care record enabling improved access to information.

Reduce the proportion of moderately frail adults progressing to severe frailty

Reduce variation in the deprivation and ethnic profile of frail adults, both in the proportion who are
moderately frail and the average age of moderate and severe frailty onset; reduce disparities in the

recording of a clinical frailty assessment score and care plan

4. Improve and level-up quality of life for people with moderate &
severe frailty

Increase the quality of life of those with moderate or severe frailty and reduce variation

5. Improve and level-up care for people with severe frailty and their
carers

Increase the proportion of severely frail adults with a comprehensive geriatric assessment tool (CGA) ,
care plan, case co-ordinator, advance care plan, ReSPECT plan, preferred place of death recorded, and
death occurring in their preferred setting.

Reduce ethnic and deprivation disparities in the above

6. Reduce and level up need for unplanned care among those with
frailty

Reduce the number of people living with frailty requiring unplanned care

Reduce the proportion of people living with frailty admitted to hospital for unplanned care

Reduce disparities by deprivation and ethnicity in unplanned care among those with frailty

How will we know we are making progress?
By the end of the 1%t year of the strategy

o We will develop ways to reliably identify those at risk, or with, frailty and establish baselines
for improvement.

o We will try different approaches to test ways of changing the way we organise and join up
services to support healthy ageing, this includes co-production and our workforce using a
quality improvement methodology. We will evaluate these projects to make sure we use our
resources well and meet the needs of our residents with good results using measurements
and the experience of those who use the services.

Page 64




We will look at the opportunities that digital services can offer to our workforce and our
residents and how we might use these, especially to plan care. We will be aware that not all
residents are confident with digital tools and plan for this too.

We will develop our data sharing arrangements, and how we measure improvement to lay
the foundations for the strategy. This will include developing a set of impact metrics to ensure
we meet our aims and objectives and provide a solid evaluation of the changes.

We will understand the population needs at Place and neighbourhood levels which will help
us plan for the different needs of our residents.

We will develop an education and training programme for our system involving our education
and lived experience experts.

By the end of the 2™ year,

We will be using assessment tools to assess those residents who are at risk or living with
frailty consistently.

We will be using proactive care pathways which are being evaluated to ensure they are
effective.

We will co-ordinating the care of our residents.

We will have increased awareness and educational interventions to support the workforce.
We will understand some of the improvements identified in year 1 and how to scale them up.
We will have interventions in place at neighbourhood level aimed at our rural communities
and those communities where there is deprivation, or where there a need to level up health
services for those at risk or with frailty.

We will have implemented relevant digital tools.

Provide a universal prevention offer including a proactive invitation to those at risk of frailty

and mildly frail adults over 50 to access an online health education resource; signpost to
local statutory and VCSE offers for supported self-management of frailty risk factors.

By the end of the 3" year,

We will continue the work of year 1 and 2 to continue to drive improvement in services and
outcomes of our population.

We will have evaluated our progress and be able to describe the outcomes of the
interventions to educate, prevent, identify, manage and care for those at risk of or living with
frailty. This will be including the experiences of residents, their carers, and the workforce.

Implementation of the strategy will be overseen by the Healthy Ageing Strategy Steering Group with
strong links with our local authorities, voluntary and community partners, NHS Trusts and primary
care. The Steering group will ensure strategy remains dynamic and updated in line with any
significant change to national guidance.

Page 65 9




How will we monitor progress?

Progress towards achieving the objectives and meeting our milestones will be reviewed at the end of
each year. At the end of the 3-year strategy implementation period progress will be assessed, with
particular focus on outcomes. Process outcomes are indications of progress towards achieving
longer term shifts in overriding objectives such as the median age of frailty onset, reduced

proportion of the cohort progressing to m and impact on those with moderate and severe frailty, and
reduced inequity in the experience of frailty. Successes, challenges and learning will inform a further
review of the Healthy Ageing Strategy, to support sustainable funding arrangements.

Successful delivery of this strategy will
» Putin place the steps needed to extend healthy life expectancy
» Reduce inequalities
» Improve outcomes and experience of care for those with frailty as we test new ways of

working

» Reduce growth in demand for health and care services

Conclusion

This Healthy Ageing Strategy sets out our commitment to supporting coordinated healthcare and
promoting healthy ageing for residents across Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin. Our focus is on those
aged 65 and over, as well as residents over 50 who are at higher risk of early frailty.

The strategy outlines our system-wide approach, including clear objectives and milestones aimed at
improving the lives of people experiencing deteriorating health in older age. Our goal is to help
residents extend the number of years they spend in good health, maintaining independence and
wellbeing for as long as possible.

In addition to improving outcomes for Shropshire, Telford & Wrekin residents, this strategy supports
the efficient and effective use of health and care resources, aligning with the NHS 10-Year Plan and
the national shift from hospital-based to community-based care, and from analogue to digital
services.

To support the development of this strategy, we have drawn on a wide range of public health data
and insights. Supplementary documents are available on our website and by request, including:

e Healthy Ageing Strategy: Supplementary Information
¢ Healthy Ageing Strategy: Results of Public and Professional Consultation
e Healthy Ageing Strategy: Equality Impact Assessment

We would like to extend our sincere thanks to the residents, voluntary and community sector
partners, and health and social care professionals who contributed to this strategy. We are also
grateful for the continued support of the Healthy Ageing Strategy Steering Group, who will lead the
coordination and delivery of this important work.

References

British Geriatric Society; 2014; Fit for frailty: Consensus Best Practice Guidance for the care of older
people living with frailty in community and outpatient settings - published by the British Geriatrics
Society and the Royal College of Nursing in association with the Royal College of General
Practitioners and Age UK. fff2_short.pdf accessed 215t August 2025

10
Page 66



https://www.bgs.org.uk/sites/default/files/content/resources/files/2018-05-14/fff2_short.pdf

NICE; 2015: Dementia, disability and frailty in later life — mid-life approaches to delay or prevent

onset: NICE guideline Reference number:NG16; Dementia, disability and frailty in later life — mid-life

approaches to delay or prevent onset accessed 215t August 2015

UK Government; 2025; Fit for the Future: 10 Year Health Plan for England; 10 Year Health Plan for

England: fit for the future - GOV.UK accessed 215t August 2025

Page 67

11



https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng16/resources/dementia-disability-and-frailty-in-later-life-midlife-approaches-to-delay-or-prevent-onset-pdf-1837274790085
https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng16/resources/dementia-disability-and-frailty-in-later-life-midlife-approaches-to-delay-or-prevent-onset-pdf-1837274790085
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future

This page is intentionally left blank



Integrated Impact Assessment

Description and purpose of an lIA

NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

An Integrated Impact Assessment (ll1A) is a mechanism which enables public sector organisations to
consider the needs of different groups. An lIA helps to identify the potential positive and negative
impacts of proposed changes to services on people who live in the area. It also lists a set of potential
solutions that may help to address some of the areas identified as having a negative impact on a
particular group or community

If it is identified that a programme or project may have an impact on a particular group or
community, the legal duty to involve individuals, their carers, and representatives, will apply.

Author

Lorna Watkins

Date of screening

02/05/2025

Contact Email Address

Lorna.watkinsl@nhs.net

Date Version Author Summary of changes / notes

02/05/2025 | 1 Lorna Watkins Draft

26/06/2025 | 1.2 Lorna Watkins Revision and amendments from
comments/feedback

12/08/2025 | 1.3 Lorna Watkins Additional comments added from the feedback
from Quality team.

15/08/2025 | 1.4 Lorna Watkins Amendment to post engagement, disability
under protected characteristics and adjustment
to sexual orientation

Stakeholder Approved? Date Approved
ICB Quality Team Yes 12/08/2025
ICB Health Inequalities Yes 26/06/225
Equality and Involvement Committee Yes 06/08/2025

Paglje 69




Programme/Project Overview

NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Name of the policy/project / service
development being reviewed

Healthy Ageing Strategy

Description of project, service, policy
being reviewed

As an Integrated Care System, we have an urgent need to
develop plans that reduce the impact of frailty on the
quality of life of our population and on the demand for
health and care services. This will be achieved through
implementation of a strategy to delay the onset of frailty
and deliver best-practice frailty management.

Description of the proposed change

Improve understanding about healthy ageing and frailty.
Delay and level-up the onset of frailty. Frailty is not
inevitable: It can be delayed or prevented through
modifiable factors like activity, nutrition, and social
connection. Early onset risk factors: Frailty can appear
before age 65, especially in deprived and minoritised
populations. In STW, 22% of the population is over 65 (vs
18% nationally), indicating a higher baseline risk of
frailty.

Slow down and level-up the progression of frailty.
National evidence shows that frailty progresses faster
without intervention. Annual healthcare costs are twice
as high for people with mild frailty compared to 'fit' older
adults. it is suggested three times higher for those with
moderate frailty, four times higher for those with severe
frailty. This provides a strong economic rationale for early
intervention to prevent progression along the frailty
spectrum. (Clegg et al., 2016) (Fit for frailty, no date)
Improve and level-up quality of life for people with
moderate & severe frailty.

People with moderate/severe frailty often live with
multiple long-term conditions and poor functional status.
In STW, on average, people live 17-22 years of their life
in poor health, with a 12-year gap in healthy life
expectancy between most and least deprived. The goal is
to narrow this gap by offering early identification and
supportive care across all demographics.

Improve and level-up care for people with severe frailty
and their carers.

Local data suggests: 6,000 people aged 65+ live with
severe frailty. A smaller proportion receive a CGA
(Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment), or have a
documented ReSPECT plan, care coordinator, or
preferred place of death. The strategy aims to
standardise and scale up access to these high-quality
interventions.

Reduce and level up need for unplanned care among
those with frailty

Frailty increases hospital admissions, Falls, A&E
attendances and emergency bed days.

2
Page 70



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

In STW it is estimated 19,000 older adults have moderate
frailty, a group highly likely to drive avoidable unplanned
care buy introducing early interventions we could reduce
this pressure.

Who is this project, service, policy
likely to have an impact on?

Consider patients/service users,
carers, staff, partner organisations, or
the whole population

The strategy encompasses our population aged over 65,
and those over 50 who are at higher risk of early frailty.
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin is currently home to
around 118,000 over 65 year olds, which is expected to
swell to around 162,000 by 2035. We estimate there are
around 45,000 people aged over 65 living with mild
frailty, 19,000 moderately frail and 6,000 with severe
frailty.

(Population projections - Office for National Statistics, no
date)

Will the proposed change resultin a
change in demand for health and / or
social care services? If yes, please
provide details

Yes, the strategy will result in a change in demand for
health and social care services.

In the short term, demand may rise due to proactive
outreach and assessments. Over time, if successful, the
strategy aims to reduce the growth of demand,
especially for unplanned and institutional care, by
improving healthy ageing, delaying frailty, and managing
it more effectively in the community.

3
Page 71



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Engagement and Involvement

The NHS and Local Authorities are required by law to make arrangements to involve individuals, their
carers, and representatives, as set out in the Health and Care Act 2022. This includes the planning of
the commissioning arrangements, in the development and consideration of proposals for changes
that would have an impact on services and in decisions affecting the operation of services.

Involving people and communities in a meaningful way brings many benefits. It increases the
legitimacy of decision making, builds the reputation of public bodies, and makes them more
accountable and transparent. It is the right thing to do.

Has any engagement and Yes
involvement been undertaken in
gathering evidence to develop your

proposals?
If yes
Describe what activity has been Between May and June 2025, NHS Shropshire, Telford and
undertaken to involve patients the | Wrekin undertook a comprehensive and inclusive
public and wider stakeholders? engagement programme to inform the development of its

Healthy Ageing Strategy 2025-2028. This engagement was
designed to ensure that the strategy reflects the lived
experiences, needs, and aspirations of older adults, carers,
professionals, volunteers, and community stakeholders
across the region.

Purpose and Scope of Engagement

The engagement aimed to:

e Raise awareness of frailty as a long-term condition
that can be prevented, delayed, or better managed.

e Understand the experiences of those living with or
supporting someone with frailty.

e Gather views on how care and support could be
improved.

¢ Inform the development of a proactive, person-
centred strategy for healthy ageing.

The strategy itself targets adults aged 65+, and those over
50 at increased risk of frailty, addressing the full spectrum
from prevention to care.

Engagement Activities

A multi-method approach was adopted to ensure broad and
representative participation:

Online Surveys:

- Apublic survey (526 responses) and a professional
survey (79 responses) captured both quantitative
and qualitative insights.

- Questions explored understanding of frailty,
experiences with services, barriers to access, and
preferences for communication and support.

Targeted Face-to-Face Engagement:

- Conducted with 305 individuals across 33
community groups in Shropshire and Telford &
Wrekin.

4
Page 72



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

- Included older adults, carers, people with long-term
conditions, and those from digitally excluded, rural,
and ethnically diverse communities.

Stakeholder Listening Event:

- Attended by 42 professionals from health, social
care, and VCSE sectors.

- Provided feedback on the strategy’s vision,
priorities, and areas for improvement.

Community Outreach:

- Engagement at local events such as the ‘See Hear’
event in Shrewsbury, Lawley coffee mornings, and
Bridgnorth Community Hospital open day.

- Distribution of leaflets, posters, and comms toolkits
to VCSE partners and Patient Participation Groups.

Midpoint Review:

- Conducted to identify gaps in engagement and
adjust outreach strategies.

- Ledto increased engagement with
underrepresented groups, including Muslim, Hindu,
and Sikh communities, and those who had received
formal frailty assessments.

How will you/have you used the
insight that you have gathered to
inform your proposals?

The feedback from over 950 participants, including older
adults, carers, professionals, and community stakeholders,
directly influenced the structure and content of the strategy.
The five strategic pillars—Educate, Prevent, Identify,
Manage, and Care—were refined to reflect the themes and
priorities raised during engagement.

Key examples of how insight has shaped proposals include:
Person-Centred Care and Involvement:

- With 99.5% of respondents emphasising the
importance of being involved in care decisions, the
strategy commits to co-production and shared
decision-making as core principles.

- Proposals include the development of care
coordination roles and a single point of contact to
support continuity and personalised care.

Equity of Access:

- Feedback highlighted significant disparities in
service access due to geography, digital exclusion,
and transport barriers.

- Asaresult, the strategy includes targeted
interventions for rural and deprived communities,
and a commitment to equity—not just equality—in
service provision.

Digital Inclusion and Communication:

- Insight revealed that digital confidence declines
with age, and many prefer printed materials and
trusted community sources.

5
Page 73



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

- The strategy proposes a dual approach to
communication—digital and non-digital—and
investment in digital literacy support for older
adults.

Early Identification and Prevention:

- Professionals and the public identified gaps in early
identification and preventative services.

- The strategy includes the rollout of consistent frailty
assessment tools, proactive care pathways, and
universal prevention offers for adults aged 50+.

Support for Carers and Social Connection:

- Carers expressed a need for greater support, and
many respondents highlighted the role of social
groups in maintaining wellbeing.

- Proposals include enhanced support for unpaid
carers, expansion of community-based services, and
investment in peer-led initiatives.

Cultural Sensitivity and Diverse Needs:

- Targeted outreach to underrepresented groups
informed proposals for culturally appropriate
services and communication.

- The strategy includes actions to build trust with
diverse communities and ensure services are
inclusive and responsive.

How will the outcomes (i.e. how
the information collected has
influenced decisions) be reported
back to those that have been
involved?

The findings from the public and professional engagement
have been compiled into a comprehensive report, which will
be used to inform the final Healthy Ageing and Frailty
Strategy. This report will be made available through the NHS
STW website and shared directly with stakeholders,
including voluntary and community sector organisations,
Patient Participation Groups, and professional networks.

In addition to formal publication, tailored communications
will be developed to ensure accessibility for different
audiences. This includes summaries in plain English, printed
materials for digitally excluded groups, and updates via
community groups and local events. The communications
and engagement team will also work with trusted
community leaders to cascade key messages and ensure
feedback reaches those who may not access digital
platforms.

By closing the feedback loop, NHS STW aims to demonstrate
how public and stakeholder insight has shaped decisions,
build trust in the strategy’s implementation, and lay the
groundwork for continued collaboration and co-production.

How has/will the proposals for this
programme or project be shaped
by co-production activity?

Co-production has been a central principle in the
development of the Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy
2025-2028. From the outset, NHS Shropshire, Telford and

6
Page 74



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Wrekin committed to designing the strategy in partnership
with those who have lived experience of frailty, their
careers, and the professionals and volunteers who support
them.

The engagement programme was designed not simply to
consult, but to co-produce. This was achieved through a
multi-layered approach that actively involved stakeholders
in shaping the strategy’s direction, priorities, and delivery
model.

Public and professional surveys, targeted face-to-face
engagement, and a stakeholder listening event provided rich
qualitative and quantitative insight. These activities were
structured to allow participants to reflect on their
experiences, identify gaps in current provision, and propose
solutions. The feedback was not only collected—it was
analysed, interpreted, and directly embedded into the
strategy’s design.

For example, the strategy’s emphasis on person-centred
care, equity of access, and proactive prevention reflects the
priorities voiced by participants. The inclusion of culturally
sensitive outreach, support for unpaid carers, and non-
digital communication options are direct responses to
community feedback. Professionals also shaped proposals
around care coordination, digital tools, and workforce
development.

The co-production approach was iterative. A midpoint
review allowed the team to identify underrepresented
voices and adjust outreach, accordingly, ensuring that the
final strategy is inclusive and representative of the diverse
communities across Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin.

Please provide a brief outline of
your approach and objectives for
any additional patient and public
involvement

The approach to additional patient and public involvement
will be rooted in the principles of co-production, inclusivity,
and transparency. It will focus on ensuring that the strategy
remains responsive to evolving needs and continues to
reflect the lived experiences of those it serves.

Key objectives include:

Sustained Engagement: Establishing regular opportunities
for feedback through community forums, patient panels,
and targeted outreach, particularly with groups identified as
underrepresented in the initial engagement (e.g. ethnic
minority communities, digitally excluded individuals, and
unpaid carers).

Collaborative Evaluation: Involving patients and the public
in evaluating the impact of new services and interventions,

7
Page 75



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

including participation in pilot reviews, service redesign
workshops, and outcome assessments.

Accessible Communication: Ensuring that updates, progress
reports, and opportunities for involvement are
communicated in formats that are accessible and culturally
appropriate, using both digital and non-digital channels.

Localised Co-Design: Working with neighbourhoods and
Primary Care Networks to co-design place-based solutions
that reflect local priorities, particularly in rural and deprived
areas.

This ongoing involvement will be coordinated by the
Communications and Engagement Team, in partnership with
VCSE organisations, community leaders, and health and care
professionals. It will ensure that the strategy remains
dynamic, inclusive, and shaped by those with the greatest
insight into what ageing well truly means.

If no

How will you involve
stakeholders/citizens in gathering
evidence and developing your
plans?

How has/will the proposals for this
programme or project be shaped
by co-production activity?

8
Page 76



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Evidence: What evidence/ information are you using to inform this assessment

What are the key sources of data, indicators, research and other sources of evidence you are using to
inform the assessment and determine impact?

¢ Consider nationally available data such as health profiles, RightCare data, Hospital Episode
Statistics (HES) data, national / international research

¢ Consider local data such as JSNA data, contract performance data, pilot activity evaluations,
qualitative data from local research / focus groups, or other robust sources of evidence

Protected Characteristic Groups The Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy aims to ensure
equitable access and positive impacts across various
protected characteristic groups, in line with the Equality Act
2010.

The Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy aims to ensure
equitable access and positive impacts across various
protected characteristic groups, in line with the Equality Act
2010. The strategy specifically addresses the following
characteristics:

Age: The strategy is designed for people aged 65+ and
those over 50 at risk of early frailty. It recognises that frailty
is more common with age but not inevitable and aims to
delay onset and improve quality of life through proactive
care and support.

Race/Ethnicity: The strategy identifies higher risk of early
frailty among some ethnic minority groups, particularly
Black, Pakistani and Bangladeshi communities in
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin. It includes targeted
outreach, culturally appropriate interventions, and aims to
reduce disparities in frailty onset and care outcomes.
Disability: Frailty often overlaps with physical and cognitive
impairments. Including learning disabilities and autism. The
strategy promotes personalised care planning, holistic
assessments, and community-based support to improve
independence and reduce unplanned care for people with
disabilities.

Gender: While not explicitly differentiated in the strategy,
gender differences in frailty prevalence and care needs are
acknowledged in national evidence. The strategy’s
commitment to personalised care ensures gender-sensitive
approaches are embedded in assessments and planning.
Carers: Carers are explicitly included in the strategy’s
objectives, particularly in the pillar focused on improving
care for people with severe frailty. It promotes support for
carers through care coordination, advance care planning,
and involvement in decision-making.

Deprivation: The strategy highlights that people living in
deprivation are at higher risk of early frailty and poorer
outcomes. It uses population health data to target
interventions in deprived areas and reduce the 12-year gap

9
Page 77



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

in healthy life expectancy.

Digital Exclusion and Literacy: The strategy acknowledges
barriers to digital access and health literacy. It includes both
digital and face-to-face engagement options, and works
with VCSE partners to reach excluded groups and ensure
equitable access to information and services.

Economically deprived/socially Efforts will be made to ensure equitable access to services,
excluded groups and communities | particularly for socially excluded groups and those in
and carers economically deprived areas. The strategy targets areas of

high deprivation, using eligibility edibility data from CSU per
GP and then targeting the GPS in core 20 areas via Shape.

Welsh Residents / Welsh Language | This Strategy is primarily focused on the Shropshire, Telford,
Speakers and Wrekin area, and does not specifically target Welsh-
speaking populations. However, bilingual or translation
services will be made available if required to support any
Welsh- speaking patients.

Staff Data collected from staff surveys, feedback mechanisms,
and performance evaluations. Information will be used to
monitor staffing capacity.

Quality of care/treatment (Patient / | Data will be collected through patient satisfaction surveys
Staff experience) and staff feedback. Quality of care will be measured using
clinical outcomes (e.g., Clinical frailty assessment scores, co-
produced holistic care plans in shared-care records,
qualitative assessments of experience, hospital admissions)
Regular audits and feedback loops will be implemented to
ensure continuous improvement. The strategy aims to
enhance healthy ageing and support those with a frailty
diagnosis to aid an improved quality of life and staff
experience.

Climate change Although the Healthy ageing and frailty strategy does not
directly address climate change, it is committed to adopting
sustainable practices, such as reducing unnecessary hospital
admissions and promoting local community-based care to
minimise patient travel. Integration of digital tools will also
reduce the carbon footprint associated with in-person
consultations. Digital tools for self-- management will also
help reduce the need for travel, contributing to lower
carbon emissions. Digital access is a key enabler but also a
potential barrier. The strategy mitigates this by offering both
digital and face-to-face engagement, Partnering with VCSEs
to reach digitally excluded groups, Providing translated and
accessible materials, monitoring uptake by demographic to
ensure equity.

10
Page 78



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Assessment of the impact of the service change / project / policy

Taking into account the evidence gathered assess whether the service/project / policy has a positive,
negative or no impact on people who live or work in the area.

. Positive impact means promoting equal opportunities, reducing inequalities, improving
access, improving health and wellbeing or improving relations between equality groups

. Negative impact means that people living or working in the area or a group(s) could be
disproportionately disadvantaged, discriminated against indirectly or directly, reduce access, increase
inequality or there may be a negative effect on relations between equality groups

. No impact means that no effect is expected on people living or working in the area or
equality groups

Please indicate “Positive Impact, Negative
Impact, No Impact or Don’t know”

Will the proposal have a direct impact on Positive Impact

health, mental health and wellbeing?

Will the proposal affect an individual’s ability to | Positive Impact

improve their own health and wellbeing?

Will your work affect Health Inequalities? Positive Impact

The Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy is
designed to reduce health inequalities by
targeting groups at higher risk of early frailty
and poorer outcomes. These include individuals
living in areas of high deprivation, ethnic
minority communities (particularly Pakistani
and Bangladeshi populations), and those with
limited access to healthcare or digital services.
The strategy uses population health data to
identify and proactively support these groups
through tailored interventions, including health
coaching, culturally appropriate
communication, and community outreach. It
also addresses barriers such as digital exclusion
and low health literacy by offering both online
and face-to-face engagement options. By
focusing resources where they are needed most
and embedding equity into every stage of the
care pathway, the strategy aims to narrow the
gap in healthy life expectancy and improve
outcomes for underserved populations.

Will the proposal affect an individuals ability to | Positive Impact

travel and/or access services?
Will your proposal have an impact on Climate Positive Impact
change?

The Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy is
expected to have a positive impact on climate
change, and this impact can be measured and

11
Page 79



NHS

Shropshire, Telford

and Wrekin
aligned with the ICS Green Plan. By shifting care

from hospital to community and home-based
settings, the strategy reduces the need for
patient and staff travel, thereby lowering
associated carbon emissions. The increased use
of digital tools for self-management and virtual
consultations further supports a low-carbon
care model. These changes can be quantified
through metrics such as reductions in
unplanned hospital admissions, uptake of
digital consultations, and estimated CO,e
savings from avoided travel and hospital stays.
These indicators will be monitored and
reported annually, enabling a clear read-across
into the system’s sustainability goals and
supporting the delivery of a greener, more
efficient health and care system

Please use the box below to provide reasons for any answers above where you have answered
‘Negative Impact’, ‘No Impact’ or ‘Don’t know’.

Consider:

What are the causes of these impacts?

Will the impacts be difficult to remedy or have an irreversible impact?
Will the impacts be short, medium or long term?

Are the impacts likely to generate public concern?

What are the unintended consequences of your work?

Do outcomes vary across groups and who might benefit most and least?

Will the proposal have any impact on people (or groups of people) with protected characteristics /
vulnerable groups or staff?

Age Positive Impact The strategy targets people
aged 65+ and those over 50
at risk of early frailty. In
STW, 22% of the population
is aged 65+, compared to
18% nationally. Frailty

12
Page 80



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

increases with age but is
not inevitable and can be
delayed or reversed.

Disability

Positive Impact

Frailty often coexists with
physical and cognitive
impairments. The strategy
promotes holistic
assessments and
personalised care to
support independence and
reduce hospitalisation.
Around 6,000 people in
STW are estimated to have
severe frailty.

Gender Reassignment

No Impact

The strategy does not
include specific actions
related to gender
reassignment. No
differential impact is
anticipated.

Marriage and civil partnership

No Impact

The strategy does not
address marital or
partnership status. No
differential impact is
expected.

Pregnancy and maternity

No Impact

The strategy focuses on
older adults and does not
directly affect pregnancy or
maternity.

Race

Positive Impact

The strategy identifies
higher frailty risk among
Pakistani and Bangladeshi
communities in STW. These
groups are targeted for
proactive care offers and
culturally appropriate
outreach to reduce
disparities in frailty onset
and outcomes.

Religion or belief

No Impact

The strategy does not
address religion or belief
directly. However, culturally
sensitive care may
indirectly support religious
needs.

Gender

Positive Impact

While not explicitly
differentiated, the
strategy’s personalised care
approach ensures gender-
sensitive planning and

13
Page 81



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

delivery. National data
shows gender differences in
frailty prevalence, which
the strategy accommodates
through tailored care.

Sexual Orientation

Positive Impact

The Ageing Well and Frailty
Strategy is committed to
promoting inclusive,
person-centred care that
recognises and respects the
diverse identities of older
people, including those
within the LGBTQ+
community. By addressing
the unique health and
social care needs of older
LGBTQ+ individuals—
particularly those living in
rural areas or in same-sex
relationships—the strategy
aims to reduce inequalities,
improve access to culturally
competent services, and
foster environments where
everyone feels safe, valued,
and supported as they age.

Carers

Positive Impact

Carers are supported
through coordinated care
planning, involvement in
decision-making, and
recognition of their role in
managing severe frailty.
The strategy includes case
coordination and advance
care planning for those
with severe frailty.

Economically
communities

deprived

Positive Impact

The strategy targets areas
of high deprivation. In STW,
there is a gap of up to 12
years in healthy life
expectancy between the
most and least deprived.
Proactive care offers are
tailored to reduce this
disparity.

Socially Excluded Groups

Positive Impact

The strategy includes
outreach via VCSE partners,
addresses digital exclusion,
and offers flexible access
options. It also includes

14
Page 82



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

health coaching and repeat
offers for those at risk of
health inequality.

Welsh Residents / Welsh Language | Positive Impact While focused on STW,
Speakers translation and bilingual
support will be provided
where needed to ensure
equitable access for Welsh-
speaking residents.

Staff Positive Impact The strategy includes
workforce development,
training in frailty care, and
support for staff wellbeing.
It aims to build capacity
and improve job
satisfaction through
education and role clarity
across the system.

Please use the box below to provide reasons for any answers above where you have answered
‘Negative Impact’, ‘No Impact’ or ‘Don’t know’.

Consider:

What are the causes of these impacts?

Will the impacts be difficult to remedy or have an irreversible impact?
Will the impacts be short, medium or long term?

Are the impacts likely to generate public concern?

What are the unintended consequences of your work?

Do outcomes vary across groups and who might benefit most and least?

The Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy primarily focuses on improving the quality of life and care
for older adults and individuals experiencing frailty. As such, it does not directly address issues
related to gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, religion, sexual orientation, or
pregnancy and maternity. These aspects are not expected to be impacted by the strategy because
the interventions and objectives are centred around age-related health concerns and frailty
management. Therefore, there are no anticipated changes or effects on these protected
characteristic groups.

Quality Impact Assessment

Complete this section (indicated with blue shading) if this programme or project is required to
complete a Quality Impact Assessment for NHS Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin?

15
Page 83



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Duty of Quality

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

compliance with the NHS
Constitutional access targets
partnerships with other services
safeguarding children or adults
the duty to promote equality

Positive Impact

Comments/Risks

Compliance with the NHS Constitutional access targets:
Potential to indirectly reduce pressure on urgent and
emergency services by preventing complications and
admissions.

Partnerships with other services: Enhances coordination
across primary care, community services. Aligns with ICB
priorities for integrated care.

Safeguarding children or adults: While not a primary
safeguarding service, the structured review process
introduces more regular contact with patients, increasing
the opportunity to spot red flags.

The duty to promote equality: The Healthy Ageing and
Frailty strategy aims to reduce local variation and ensuring
consistent care for patients regardless of where they live. It
also creates opportunities to identify and respond to the
needs of patients with complex or additional needs.

Mitigations/Actions

Partnerships with other services: Clear mobilisation and
communication plan to define provider vs. existing service
roles. Involve community nursing leads during mobilisation
phase. Shared vision and alignment with other strategies
and engagement with services revising pathways.

Patient Experience

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

patient choice

personalised & compassionate
care

waiting times for appointments
patient outcomes

number of complaints

Positive Impact

16
Page 84



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Comments/Risks

Patient Choice: The strategy promotes co-produced holistic
care plans, giving patients more involvement in decisions
about their care. Patients will have greater say in where,
how, and by whom they are cared for—especially those with
moderate or severe frailty. Risk that proactive offers may
feel standardised or “paternalistic” rather than empowering

Personalised & Compassionate Care: Care will be more
person-centred, with increased empathy and
responsiveness to individual needs and contexts. It
prioritises case coordination, recognising the complexity of
living with frailty. It also targets health inequalities, which
supports equity and dignity in care delivery. Risk that
Inconsistent delivery across providers; risk of “tick-box” care
planning.

Waiting Times for appointments: Over time, as the
population health improves and unplanned care use drops,
the pressure on reactive services may ease, potentially
reducing demand for urgent appointments and improving
access. Initial pressures could strain appointment systems,
but strategic success may rebalance demand toward
prevention, improving access long term. Risk that Short-
term increase in assessment and planning workload may
create bottlenecks

Patient Outcomes : There will likely be measurable
improvements in physical, mental, and emotional health
outcomes among older adults. Interventions will focus on
earlier identification and prevention, which are known to
yield better long-term outcomes. Good frailty management
reduces hospitalisation, death, and disability. Outcomes
depend on follow-through; risk of assessments without
timely interventions

Number of complaints: By increasing patient satisfaction
and perceived quality of care, it is likely to reduce the
number of complaints, especially those related to
fragmented or insensitive care. The strategy directly
addresses these areas with better communication through
care planning, dedicated care co-ordinators along with
public and workforce education. However if expectations
rise but service gaps remain, complaints may initially
increase

Mitigations/Actions

Patient Choice: Train staff in shared decision-making and
communication. Ensure care plans are co-produced with
patients and carers. Use culturally appropriate materials for
diverse communities

17
Page 85



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Personalised and Compassionate Care: Provide
standardised training in holistic assessments and
compassionate care. Implement peer reviews and quality
audits of care plans. Involve patients and carers in feedback
loops.

Waiting times for appointments: Phase rollout
geographically or by risk tier. Introduce additional staff
capacity (frailty nurse practitioners, coordinators). Use
digital assessments where appropriate to triage. Secure
ring-fenced time for frailty assessments in primary care.

Patient Outcomes: Ensure clear referral pathways from
assessment to intervention. Build feedback loops into care
plans for monitoring progress. Invest in community services
that support nutrition, mobility, mental health.

Number of complaints: Communicate the strategy
transparently to the public with realistic timelines. Use
complaints data as learning tools and build in rapid response
systems. Promote a culture of continuous improvement and
feedback collection.

Patient Safety

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

systems to safeguard patients to
prevent harm

systems for ensuring that the risk
of healthcare acquired infections
is reduced

workforce capability, skills and
capacity

number of incidents reported

Positive Impact

Comments/Risks

Systems to safeguard patients to prevent harm: The
strategy emphasises early identification of frailty, case
coordination, and proactive care planning, which reduces
the risk of neglect, missed deterioration, and inappropriate
interventions.

Systems for ensuring that the risk of healthcare acquired:
Community-based care and reduced hospital admissions will
likely reduce risk of HCAIs. However, expansion of frailty
services at acute sites could introduce new exposure risks if
infection prevention controls are not aligned.

Workforce capability, skills and capacity: Significant
upskilling of staff and additional capacity for assessments,

18
Page 86



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

planning and coordination. There is a risk of overburdening
existing teams if resources are not expanded. Patient skills
and ability also risk from digital, understanding and even will
to support and engage.

Number of incidents reported: Early stages may see
increased incident reporting as new care pathways are
embedded, and staff learn to flag risks. Over time, better
care coordination and proactive management should reduce
actual incidents.

Mitigations/Actions

Systems to safeguard patients to prevent harm: Embed
safeguarding checks into CGA and frailty assessments. Train
staff on recognising safeguarding risks in older adults.
Ensure case coordinators are equipped to act as
safeguarding advocates. Integrate with existing safeguarding
referral pathways.

Systems for ensuring the risk of healthcare-acquired
infections (HCAIs) is reduced: Ensure frailty units at acute
sites follow strict IPC protocols. Incorporate infection
prevention training in all frailty staff training. Prioritise
virtual and home-based assessments where appropriate.
Monitor infection rates specifically for patients in frailty
pathways.

Workforce capability, skills and capacity: Develop and
deliver a targeted frailty education and training programme
(as already proposed). Recruit dedicated frailty practitioners
and coordinators. Use phased roll-out to balance workload.
Enable task sharing across multidisciplinary teams including
VCSE partners and building to support patient access and
support for digital competence and availability or funding.

Number of incidents reported: Encourage a learning culture
where reporting is seen as positive. Include incident
reporting themes in frailty working group reviews. Use data
to identify patterns and refine care pathways. Reinforce use
of datix/reporting systems in community and primary care
settings.

Clinical Effectiveness

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

clinical leadership

delivery of evidence based
practice

clinical engagement of staff and
patients

Positive Impact

19
Page 87



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

consistent delivery of high quality
standards
improved patient outcomes

Comments/Risks Clinical leadership: The strategy depends on system-wide
implementation and multidisciplinary collaboration, which
encourages strong clinical leadership across care settings. It
provides an opportunity to empower clinicians as strategy
champions and leads of workstreams. A clear vision and
achievable goals will enable a shared purpose.

Delivery of evidence-based practice: The strategy is built
around national guidelines and evidence (e.g. CGA, ReSPECT,
frailty scores), supporting standardised and evidence-led
care pathways.

Clinical engagement of staff and patients: Shared decision-
making, holistic care plans and patient/carer involvement—
all of which improve engagement. Staff engagement is likely
to rise if they see a clearer framework for proactive,
meaningful care.

Consistent delivery of high-quality standards: The strategy
aims to standardise care but success depends on workforce
capacity, digital systems, and equitable delivery across sites.
Variability in implementation could undermine consistency.

Improved patient outcomes: Central goal of the strategy is
to delay, reduce and manage frailty to improve quality of
life, reduce admissions, and increase independence—key
patient outcome metrics.

Mitigations/Actions Clinical leadership: Appoint frailty clinical leads in each
organisation and service area. Create a clinical leadership
forum under the Steering Group. Offer leadership
development and protected time for clinical leads. Involve
clinicians in co-designing care models and evaluation
metrics. Review and redesign of pathways, commissioning
services for prevention.

Delivery of evidence-based practice:

Embed NICE-aligned tools (e.g. frailty assessment
instruments) in care pathways. Train staff in evidence-
based frailty management and preventative approaches.
Use audits and quality improvement to check adherence to
best practice. Review and update interventions based on
latest research and local data.

Clinical engagement of staff and patients: Involve staff and
patients in design and testing of care pathways. Recognise
and reward staff who contribute to improvement efforts.

20
Page 88



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Develop clear communication and engagement plans for
public and workforce. Provide feedback to staff on impact of
their work on patient outcomes.

Consistent delivery of high-quality standards: Develop and
roll out standard operating procedures (SOPs) and shared
documentation templates. Use digital shared care records to
support continuity. Establish quality assurance mechanisms,
including peer reviews and benchmarking. Provide training
and support to ensure consistent interpretation of frailty
assessments.

Improved patient outcomes: Monitor outcome indicators
such as unplanned admissions, frailty progression, QoL.
Ensure care plans include personalised goals and follow-up.
Address inequality by targeting at-risk groups with enhanced
offers. Build an evaluation framework into every pillar to
track outcome impact. A clear vision and buy in across the
system and pathway re-design to reduce risk.

Health Inequalities

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

prevention of ill health
promotion of self-care

equality of access to services for
vulnerable groups

ability to engage/ inform
vulnerable groups

impact on/support partners to
reduce inequalities

Positive Impact

Comments/Risks

Prevention of ill health: The strategy places significant
emphasis on prevention by offering a universal and
proactive approach to identifying early frailty, particularly in
underserved populations. It recognises that the causes of ill
health and frailty are often rooted in structural inequalities,
including, deprivation, long-term exposure to environmental
risks (e.g. poor housing, low income) and barriers to
accessing preventive healthcare and lifestyle support. In
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin (STW), residents in the most
deprived communities experience up to 12 fewer years of
healthy life expectancy compared to the least deprived —
highlighting the need for prevention models tailored to
those most at risk.

Promotion of self-care: Supported self-management of
frailty risk factors and access to resources (e.g. online health

21
Page 89



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

education, signposting to services). This enhances
autonomy.

While the strategy supports self-care through digital tools,
education, and signposting, it also recognises barriers to
activation and motivation faced by many target populations.
These include low health literacy and limited understanding
of frailty as a manageable condition, Language and cultural
barriers, particularly in Pakistani and Bangladeshi
communities, Digital exclusion among older adults,
especially those living alone, in rural areas, or on low
incomes and aims to reduced confidence, mental health
challenges, and low sense of agency among people with
multiple disadvantages. To be effective, self-care promotion
must be relational, not transactional — combining digital
offers with face-to-face, localised support (e.g. health
coaches, community navigators) and co-produced materials
suited to different literacy levels and cultures.

Equality of access to services for vulnerable groups: The
strategy explicitly aims to reduce inequality by offering
earlier and more frequent frailty interventions to those in
deprived areas, providing targeted outreach for minoritised
ethnic communities and carers by using PHM (population
health management) tools to identify and invite those at
higher risk. However, historical underutilisation of services
by vulnerable groups stems not only from service gaps, but
from institutional mistrust, especially in groups who feel
services are not responsive to their needs, transport,
language, and accessibility barriers and a lack of sustained
relationships with care providers. Services must be co-
designed with those affected and delivered in familiar,
trusted spaces.

Ability to engage/ inform vulnerable groups: Success
depends on delivery methods. The strategy supports
engagement through health coaching and outreach, but
reaching marginalised communities will require active,
localised effort.

Impact on/support partners to reduce inequalities: Aligns
with ICS goals to tackle health inequalities. It promotes joint
working between health, social care, and voluntary sectors,
potentially amplifying the effect of collective efforts to
reduce inequity.

Mitigations/Actions

Prevention of ill health: A universal prevention offer will
proactively invite adults aged 50+ who are pre-frail or mildly
frail to access online and in-person health education and
support. Targeted support will prioritise the 16,000-20,000
older adults in the lowest two deprivation quintiles in STW
(based on 2021 ONS deprivation data and PHM

22
Page 90



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

segmentation). Offers will include face-to-face access points
and be delivered in collaboration with VCSE organisations
already embedded in deprived communities.

Built into the “Prevent” pillar of the strategy and resourced
through Core20PLUSS5 and prevention budgets. Responsible
teams: Public Health Leads, PCNs, VCSE delivery partners.
Monitoring: Quarterly PHM analysis of uptake and
prevention activity, disaggregated by deprivation and
ethnicity. Governance: Frailty Strategy Steering Group and
ICB Health Inequalities Committee.

Promotion of self-care: A tiered model of self-care support
will include digital resources, paper-based guidance and
one-to-one health coaching for those with low digital access
or health literacy. The strategy addresses activation barriers
(e.g. low confidence, cognitive impairment, cultural beliefs)
by embedding motivational interviewing into staff training.
Estimated reach: 30,000—40,000 adults aged 50+ over 3
years will be eligible for self-care support offers (based on
frailty risk stratification). Responsible teams are Education &
Workforce subgroup, digital, community providers, VCSE
health coaches.

Monitoring and annual review of uptake and PROMs;
tracked by digital inclusion, age, and socioeconomic status.
Governance will be in the form of Strategy Working Groups,
health care models, training, local authority committees.

Equality of access to services for vulnerable groups:
Services will be co-designed and flexibly delivered, with
language translation and visual-based communication,
Home-based assessments and telephone options for
housebound or rurally isolated residents, community-based
assessments via faith centres, pharmacies, and VCSE
venues. It is estimated 10,000—-12,000 individuals across
Core20PLUSS groups in STW will be prioritised for outreach
(based on ICB Core20 data). Contracts with providers will
include clear KPIs for reaching under-served populations.
Responsible teams will be Place-based commissioning leads,
provider organisations, PCNs. Monitoring will be in the form
of dashboards reviewed quarterly for service use by
deprivation, ethnicity, and access method (digital vs in-
person).

Ability to engage/ inform vulnerable groups: Partner with
local leaders and VCSE organisations to co-design and
deliver engagement. Use trusted settings (faith centres,
libraries, food banks) for outreach. Allocate dedicated
funding and capacity for engagement with vulnerable
groups.

23
Page 91



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Impact on/support partners to reduce inequalities: Involve
partners in all pillars of delivery and strategy oversight.
Share data and insights across sectors to target resources
effectively. Co-develop outcome metrics that reflect social
determinants of health and inequality reduction. VCSE will
help deliver frailty education and outreach, they will act as
health coaches or navigators alongside being able to inform
co-production to deliver the five pillars (Educate, Prevent,
Identify, Manage, Care).

Productivity and Innovation

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

the best setting to deliver best
clinical and cost effective care
elimination of any resource
inefficiencies

low carbon pathway

improved care pathway

focusing resources where they are
needed most

Positive Impact

Comments/Risks

The best setting to deliver best clinical and cost-effective
care: The strategy shifts focus from reactive hospital-based
care to proactive, community-based, and home-based
interventions—the most cost-effective and person-centred
settings for frailty.

Elimination of any resource inefficiencies: Addresses
inefficiencies by targeting high-risk groups early and
avoiding crisis-driven admissions. However, new
infrastructure and services may temporarily increase costs
during rollout.

Low carbon pathway: Community and digital-first care
reduces travel and avoids high-carbon hospital admissions.
However, full benefit depends on wider system alignment
(e.g. estate, digital tools).

Improved care pathway: Creates a standardised, tiered care
model from prevention through to complex care, reducing
fragmentation and variability. It includes assessment,
planning, and escalation mechanisms.

Focusing resources where they are needed most: Directly
targets those at greatest risk—older adults, those living in
deprivation, and ethnic minority populations—maximising
the impact of limited resources.

24
Page 92



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

Mitigations/Actions

The best setting to deliver best clinical and cost-effective
care: Build and strengthen community care infrastructure
(e.g. community frailty teams). Ensure shared-care records
support coordination across settings. Train staff in delivering
care in non-acute environments. Monitor outcomes and
costs to demonstrate value.

Elimination of any resource inefficiencies: Use population
health data to prioritise high-impact groups. Phase
implementation to match capacity and evaluate impact
early. Apply LEAN principles in pathway design to avoid
duplication. Monitor resource use and cost-effectiveness
metrics.

Low carbon pathway: Prioritise remote consultations and
local delivery of care where safe. Monitor and report on
carbon impact of care settings. Engage ICS estates and
sustainability leads to align care pathways with Net Zero
NHS goals.

Improved care pathway: - Fully implement the five-pillar
model (educate, prevent, identify, manage, care). Develop
clear referral criteria, pathway diagrams, and SOPs. Evaluate
and iterate the pathway using patient and staff feedback.

Focusing resources where they are needed most: Use risk
stratification and local data to identify priority groups.
Embed health equity lens in all decision-making. Align
resources with levels of frailty, social risk, and care gaps.
Monitor uptake and adapt based on access and outcomes
data.

Workforce

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

staffing levels

skill mix

competencies of staff

sickness

retention

turnover

Positive Impact

Comments/Risks

Staffing levels: The need for proactive assessments, care
planning, case coordination and 7-day frailty unit operation
will require increased staffing capacity, which may initially
strain services. There is also a risk on capacity and demand

25
Page 93



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

as we move to preventions and align pathways and
contracts.

Skill mix: Encourages the use of multi-disciplinary teams
(MDTs) and task-sharing, enabling more efficient
deployment of skills across sectors.

Competencies of staff: Elevate workforce competencies in
frailty prevention, identification, and management.
However, a significant education and upskilling effort is
required.

Sickness: New demands may lead to initial stress or burnout
without proper support. Long term, improved morale and
proactive working may reduce sickness.

Retention: Offers meaningful work and development
opportunities which can improve job satisfaction. But risks
of burnout or poor rollout could harm retention.

Turnover: If workload grows without support, turnover may
increase. But if the strategy is well-managed, with training
and support, staff stability could improve.

Mitigations/Actions

Staffing levels: Conduct workforce capacity modelling
aligned to strategy goals. Secure short-term investment for
new roles (e.g. frailty nurses, care coordinators). Use phased
implementation to spread demand. Collaborate with VCSE
partners to extend capacity.

Skill mix: Map required roles (e.g. GPs, therapists, nurses,
social workers, link workers). Introduce new or blended
roles (e.g. frailty practitioners, community paramedics).
Encourage inter-professional training and flexible workforce
models.

Competencies of staff: Implement the strategy’s education
and training pillar at scale. Develop competency frameworks
for frailty roles. Offer accredited training pathways in frailty
care and CGA. Monitor competency uptake and refresh
regularly.

Sickness: Monitor workloads and provide wellbeing support
for frontline staff. Use rotas and caseload planning tools to
avoid overload. Build resilience training and peer support
into staff development. Include workforce health metrics in
the strategy's evaluation.

Retention: Provide clear career progression routes within
frailty pathways. Celebrate success and showcase impact of
staff contributions. Offer mentoring, supervision, and

26
Page 94



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

wellbeing resources. Build recognition into organisational
culture (e.g. frailty champions).

Turnover: Monitor turnover rates across services involved.
Act early on staff feedback and stress signals. Foster team-
based approaches and sense of mission around healthy
ageing. Ensure induction and onboarding reflect new frailty
responsibilities.

Resource Impact

To what extent would successful
implementation of this programme
impact positively or negatively on
any of the following:

Estates

IT resource

Equipment

Other agencies e.g. Social
care/safeguarding/ voluntary
sector

Positive Impact

Comments/Risks

Estates: Community-based care and 7-day frailty units will
require suitable estate space, especially at acute and
community sites. However, reducing hospital admissions
may relieve overall estate pressures over time.

IT resource: Success depends on digital infrastructure—
including shared care records, population health
management, and digital frailty alerts. Existing systems may
need upgrades and integration.

Equipment: New roles (e.g. mobile assessment teams) and
proactive care offers may require basic diagnostic tools and
mobile devices, but equipment needs are not extensive.

Other agencies e.g. Social care/safeguarding/ voluntary
sector: Relies on integration with social care, safeguarding,
and the voluntary/community sector to deliver coordinated,

27
Page 95



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

equitable, person-centred care. These partners will face
increased demand for coordination and delivery.
Mitigations/Actions Estates: Audit estate capacity and identify needs for frailty
hubs or reconfiguration. Repurpose underutilised
community spaces for assessments and interventions. Align
with ICS estate strategies for co-location of services. Engage
estates teams early to plan for access, safety, and
environment.

IT resource: Invest in interoperable IT systems to support
multi-agency working. Develop shared dashboards and real-
time data for monitoring frailty. Ensure data governance
frameworks are in place. Provide digital training and support
to workforce.

Equipment: Map out and standardise required equipment
for community and frailty teams. Bulk-purchase mobile
devices for assessments and digital access. Ensure funding
covers maintenance and replacement cycles. Conduct
regular inventory audits for efficiency.

Other agencies e.g. Social care/safeguarding/ voluntary
sector: Formalise joint governance through multi-agency
working groups. Co-develop care pathways and shared
protocols. Fund or support VCSE partners to deliver self-
management and outreach. Embed joint training across
sectors, including safeguarding awareness.

Monitoring

Effective monitoring will help identify any adverse or positive impact arising from the service / policy
change, as well as help with future planning and service development.

What monitoring processes will you implement to assess the ongoing impact of the changes on
patients and the public after it has been completed?

Effective monitoring will be critical to ensuring that the implementation of the STW Healthy
Ageing and Frailty Strategy supports equity, prevents unintended negative consequences, and
informs future service planning and development. The following monitoring processes will be
implemented:

1. Outcome and Process Monitoring
e Track quantitative indicators such as:
o Frailty levels by severity
o Uptake of assessments, care plans, and community services
o Hospital admissions and emergency care usage
e Disaggregate data by age, ethnicity, deprivation level, and gender to identify and address
inequalities.

2. Patient and Public Feedback

28
Page 96



NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

e Conduct regular patient experience surveys and focus groups, especially involving:
o Older adults from deprived communities
o Ethnic minority groups
o People with limited digital access

e Monitor complaints and compliments to identify service gaps or equity concerns.

3. Multi-Agency Reviews
e Carry out joint reviews of complex cases across health, social care, and voluntary sectors
to ensure:
o Equitable care coordination
o Early identification of safeguarding or access issues

4. Workforce Monitoring

e Assess staff training uptake on frailty, personalised care, and cultural competence.

e Monitor workforce wellbeing, retention, and capacity to identify pressures that may
impact equitable care delivery.

e Monitoring capacity and demand with current services until streamlined and new
pathways are in place.

e Monitoring of partner and provider feedback to include incident reporting.

5. Public-Facing Evaluation
e Publish a plain-language annual report highlighting:
o Impact on health inequalities
o Progress in addressing access and outcome disparities
o Actions taken in response to public feedback

These processes will ensure that positive outcomes are measured equitably, and any adverse
effects on vulnerable or underserved groups are identified early and addressed. Monitoring will
inform the continuous development of services to support inclusion, fairness, and better patient
outcomes for all.

29
Page 97



This page is intentionally left blank



b, Integrated NHS

lr Care System Shropshire, Telford
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin and erkin

Healthy Ageing:
Engagement Report

NHS Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin

Communications and Engagement Team

July 2025






Background and context

NHS Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin has developed aimed at
supporting people to age well, prevent or manage frailty earlier, and reduce health inequalities.

Scope of the Strategy:

. Covers adults aged 65+, and those over 50 at increased risk of frailty.
. Addresses the full frailty spectrum: prevention, early identification, management, and care.

. Based on five key pillars: Educate — Prevent — Identify — Manage — Care.

* The strategy is in response to growing local need and national priorities around ageing well and managing frailty.

TOT obed

« STW has a higher-than-average population aged 65+, and significant inequalities in healthy life expectancy,
especially linked to deprivation and ethnicity.

* There is an urgent need to delay the onset of frailty, improve quality of life for people living with frailty, and reduce
unplanned hospital admissions.

A
| 5 NHS}E


https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/STW-Healthy-Ageing-and-Frailty-Strategy-DRAFT-27-01-25.pdf

Engagement overview

* NHS Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin undertook public and professional engagement to gather the
experiences and views of local people, or their families, who live with symptoms of frailty, as well as both
professionals and volunteers.

NHS
Ha\‘e your sav on Shropshire, Telford

healthy ageing and frailty

* Feedback from the engagement will shape future services and ensure we meet the diverse needs of the
local population.

* The engagement builds on previous feedback and ensure the voices of people over 50 with long term
o conditions, people living with frailty, their family and carers, volunteers and professionals guide how future
% frailty prevention and frailty services will be planned and delivered in the future.

°'5A comprehensive communications and engagement plan was developed to gather views from older adults,
Ncarers, professionals, volunteers and stakeholders across our communities.

* The aims of the engagement activity was to: P e e oD el
older adults, carers and people iving
with long-term conditions to help

* Raise awareness of frailty as a long-term condition that through approaches to Healthy Ageing can be st ol
prevented, delayed, and better managed, particularly in its early stages. SO

* Explain the current model of frailty care and the vision for healthy ageing through a more proactive,
person-centred approach to supporting people living with or at risk of frailty.

* Understand people’s experiences of living with or supporting someone with frailty in Shropshire,
Telford and Wrekin.

* Gather views on how care and support could be improved, including opportunities for more
| integrated, community-based and preventative models of care.

e feedback to inform the development and delivery of a bold and ambitious Healthy Ageing and
ilty Strategy for the next three years. m




Methodology

The NHS STW communications and engagement team undertook a period of extensive engagement

over a six-week period from 20 May 2025 to 30 June 2025, to understand the views of our target S o, NS
audience: healthy ageing and frailty andi

Wirekin

* Older people living with frailty or at risk of developing frailty (particularly those aged over 65, and over 50 in higher-
risk groups).

* Carers, families, and unpaid supporters of people with frailty.

-
%ﬂ approach included the following:
= Online public and professional surveys providing opportunity for quantitative and qualitative feedback. We want to hear from
o :

» Targeted engagement including one to one interviews with service users and professionals from key frailty services
such as the Care Transfer Hub, and wards at the acute hospital where there are a high prevalence of frail people

» Targeted community outreach to ensure that we heard the voices from those harder to reach / digitally excluded
groups we conducted community engagement with targeted groups, organisations and community leaders.

» Stakeholder listening event with professionals, the VCSE community and wider stakeholders to share the strategy
and gather views.

* A Mid-point Review was conducted at 3 weeks to identify which demographics and geographical locations we had
reached and to identify any gaps, target audiences or groups we still needed to engage with.

A
| 5 NHSE




Public survey questions*

* How well do you understand frailty?

* What kinds of support do you think help people age well and stay independent for longer?

If you or someone close to you experienced symptoms of frailty, who would you contact first?

* How would you rate your involvement in decisions about frailty care or support?

Have you or the person you care for ever experienced a health or care crisis (not just hospitalisation)? What happened, and what do you think could have helped prevent it?
How confident are you that frailty is a condition that can be prevented, delayed, or managed?

What do you think would help people live a happier, healthier and longer life as they age?

How well do you feel services work together when caring for older frail people (e.g. health, social care, voluntary services)?

What would make care and support for people with frailty better in your view?

. vOT 8bed .

Do you think current services for older or frail people are fair and accessible for everyone - no matter their background (e.g. ethnicity, disability, income, where they live)?

What challenges do you, or someone you support, face in staying independent and well?

How important do you think it is for frail people to be involved in decisions about their own care?

* What matters most to you (or the person you care for) when it comes to staying independent and well in later life?
* How would you prefer to receive information about ageing well and support for frailty?

* How confident are you using digital tools to manage health (e.g. apps, video appointments, online forms)?

* Isthere anything else you’'d like us to consider as we develop the Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy?

II *Full survey questions in the appendix



In-person Targeted Engagement Questions (public)

* What do you understand by the term frailty, and do you identify as frail?

* Have you or someone you care for ever received support related to frailty? (Probing questions: what organisation
and what help received? What worked well?)

*  What would make care and support for people with frailty better in your view?
How should information and support about ageing well and frailty be communicated to ensure accessibility for all?

Is there anything else you’d like us to consider as we develop ways to support people with frailty to age well?

GQRT obed




Professional Survey Questions*

* What is your connection to frailty?

* How well do you understand the term frailty? How well do you think the term frailty is understood?

* Have you ever used the frailty assessment scale?

* What do you see as the main gaps in service provision for people living with mild to moderate frailty?
* |n what way would the healthy ageing and frailty strategy address your concerns?

* Do you think there are any pillars missing from the strategy?

90T abed

* For each of the pillars can you share any strengths, weaknesses or opportunities for improvement under each heading?

* How do you see digital tools (such as smartphones, apps, websites, assistive TEC (Technology Enabled Care) or online platforms)
supporting people living with or at risk of frailty?

* Do you have any experience of using any digital tools to identify people with frailty?

*Full survey questions in the appendix

B
r



Promotion and distribution

* NHS STW web page was launched: Healthy Ageing and Frailty - NHS Shropshire, Telford and

Wrekin
L Integrated m
S Shropsiire eviord
 The survey links were shared widely through a stakeholder briefing, a press release to local
Have your say on

healthy ageing and frailty

We want to hear from professionals,
older adults, carers and people living

A comms toolkit was distributed to partner organisations (including VCSE) and stakeholders with long-term conditions to help

shape better support as we age.

media, newsletters and social media channels by NHS STW and ICS partners.

Sgacross the health and social care system including the press release, newsletter/website
'él‘copy, poster/leaflet and social media copy/assets. D©—
* Information and the request to join groups went to our full VSCE distribution list and all Patient g :r
Participation Groups. S — ; L fanpeOakor vt

fget-involved/current-and-recent-
work/healthy-ageing-and-frailty/

 Leaflets and information was given out at engagement events and in addition at events
including ‘See Hear’ event in Shrewsbury. Lawley coffee morning, Telford Patient First,

Shropshire Patient Group, Shropshire Support refugees, Community Connectors Shropshire

and Telford, Bridgnorth Community Hospital open day. m


https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/get-involved/current-and-recent-work/healthy-ageing-and-frailty/
https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/get-involved/current-and-recent-work/healthy-ageing-and-frailty/

Targeted engagement & midpoint review

Targeted engagement was conducted across Shropshire, Telford, and Wrekin to ensure that the voices of people living with frailty
and those aged 50+ with long term conditions with protected characteristics were heard.

Frailty Midpoint Review

* To address the findings from the Frailty Midpoint Review, we increased engagement with underrepresented groups by
developing targeted outreach strategies for Muslim, Hindu, and Sikh communities, and enhanced efforts to gather responses
from a broader range of ethnic minority groups.

We also targeted those individuals who had had a formal frailty assessments by visiting wards at the acute hospital and the
care transfer hub.

While continuing our efforts in Telford, we also increased engagement in Shropshire to balance response rates.

Leveraging the good response rate from disability groups helped us gather more detailed insights and feedback.

We ensured the needs and perspectives of the 65-75 age group were well-represented and considered additional strategies
to engage younger respondents over 50. Finally, we assessed the effectiveness of current communication channels and
adjusted them as needed to improve reach and inclusivity.

. 80T 9bed

These efforts were also informed and aligned with the advice and guidance given from the Health Ageing and Frailty Steering
Committee.



16 groups in Shropshire, including:

Face to Face Engagement

Groups and sites visited

Pontesbury Carers

Highley Walking Football

Mayfair CoCo

Oswestry Carers

Shrewsbury Hospice

Bridgnorth Age UK
Woppice Falls prevention
) :
%Crowmoor Falls prevention

g‘nultiple groups)
arlescott Falls prevention
Royal Shrewsbury Hospital:
e Care Transfer Hub
* Ward 36
* Ward 18
Age UK Albrighton friendship
Bridgnorth Community Hospital
North Shropshire Dementia

|| Friendly Churches

llen

. L Whitchurch=" '
| TN =
. Chirk - PN
Ellesmere L f o) _ Market-
Gobowen [aas5 | e . Drayton
Oswestry Wemn Hodnet oo Eccles
Morda® ™ rd
= B8
ey Baschurch [ o
Llanymynech / Sh?Wb”r{".__‘-_, E < Gnos
Joleiin Newport:
Four Crosses _ S 3 o
' Battlefield - ,
1 Yeuy LT T
Rana==r [T fifi A .l ;
~ —\ Shrewshulrjyﬂ'ngm 3 . = 5 =
sfield B [ EW'°Ck":ard'"e \
LS Bayston Hil Telford Sy
I . Shifnal .
Ishpool | A m m_
Minsterley dr -
) \Much
' Wenlock \
igomery : ! ! [ssa] i
4 / Church Y [ -~
Z (.:hl-ﬂ'gh Sloke ] Stretton “Bridgnorth
Little Stretton \
Shropshire Ditton Priors Go 9|€ = _

Bishop's Castle = -
Hills National Imagery ©2025 , Map data ©2025 Goog

17 groups in Telford, including:

* Madeley Walking Group

* Telford Hospice

* Telford diverse community
* Madeley Friendly Faces

* Admaston Health walk

* Shire Homes Wellington

* TAARC Community Garden
* Age UK Hollingswood

* Age UK Newport

* Lawley Community Coffee
* Fit4All Woodside

* Age UK Turnpike

* Age UK Newport

* Fit4All Frizes

* Fit4All Apley Court

* Fit4All Lowe Court

* Fit4All Heywood Lonsdale

NHS






Total number of respondents

We have had a good response to the survey with a total of
over 954 respondents.

This is broken down as:

* Public (service users, cares and family members):

— Public Online survey: 526 respondents
— Targeted face to face engagement: 305 respondents
— Paper Survey: 4 respondents

* Professional (health and care professionals and
volunteers):

— Professional online survey: 79 respondents

TTT obed

— Stakeholder listening event: 42 respondents







Online Public Survey Respondent Breakdown (Demographics)

In total, 526 people responded to the online public survey. This is broken down as follows:
Age:
Majority (75%) aged 65+, with 4% aged 85+. Only 3% of respondents aged under 50

Demographics:

Significant majority of respondents were White British (93%), with a further 2% from other White backgrounds,

and a small number of responses from other ethnic backgrounds.

¢TT obed

5% (27) of respondents identified as members of the LGBTQ+ community, whilst 2 responses came from

individuals who identify as transgender.

57% told us they were not disabled, with most of the remaining respondents telling us they face challenges with

mobility, and long-term health conditions.

Postcodes:

' * 304 responses were received from residents of Telford and Wrekin, 201 from Shropshire, and 14 from people

lr whose home address is out of area (but may have a connection to the area). m




Key Headlines from the Online Public Survey

* |nvolvement in Care Decisions: 99.5% of respondents told us that it is important that frail people are involved
in decisions about their care

*  Perception of Frailty: 69% feel that frailty is a condition that can be prevented, delayed or managed. People
associate the word frailty with losing mobility, frequently falling, personal vulnerability, and a reduced ability
to complete daily physical tasks.

Impact of Support: When people receive support for frailty from a local health and care organisation, they
overwhelmingly feel that it made a difference to their condition (93% responding ‘Yes’ or ‘Somewhat’)

Accessibility: Only 6% of respondents told us that current services for older or frail people are fair and
accessible for everyone.

yTT obed -

— Respondents told us that poor access to services is a real challenge in rural areas, the increasing cost of
non-NHS support services is a challenge to household budgets, and there is a repeated perception of a
‘postcode lottery’ existing across the area

* First Point of Contact: For over half of respondents, they would contact their GP first if they or someone close
to them experienced symptoms of frailty. Few others would access other parts of the health and care
system, with most respondents choosing to consult family/friends, or wait until experiencing a crisis.

* Clinical Assessment: 96% of respondents didn’t not believe they had clinically been assessed for frailty.

A
g NHS



Respondent Profiling

2. Which of the following best describes your experience of frailty? (select all that

apply)

Answer Choices

Percent
| feel | may be living with
1 frailty (mild, moderate, or 31.67%
severe)
| have a long-term
condition (such as
,UJdementia or a heart _ o
2;)) condition) that affects my SHS
Q health, mobility or
independence
;I care for or support _ 26.10%
U1someone living with frailty ’
4  Prefer not to say [ 7.57%
5 Other (please specify): 20.92%

A
|

Response Response
Total

159

135

131

38
105

3. How would you describe your current health or resilience?

Answer Choices

I'm very fit and active _

I'm well, but not regularly
active -

| have some health limits

but can manage most _

things

| find it harder to get

around, | sometimes

need help to walk with

walking aids or someone -
to help me to get out of

my home.

I'm quite dependent on
others for daily tasks

I'm completely dependent
on others for daily tasks I
and getting out of my

home

Not sure/prefer not to say I

Response Response
Percent Total

29.29% 152
16.38% 85
37.57% 195
15.80% 82
5.78% 30
1.35% 7
0.96% 5
answered 519
skipped 7



Clinical Approaches to Frailty

4. Have you ever been told you’ve been assessed for frailty? 5. Do you have a care plan for frailty or long-term health needs?

Response Response

Response Response

Answer Choices Answer Choices

Percent Total Percent Total
1 Yes [ | 3.27% 17 1 Yes | 1.75% 9
25No I g08% 484 2 No A o831% | 498
% Not sure [ | 3.65% 19 3 Notsure | 2.33% 12
= answered 520 answered 515

H
(0)) skipped 6 skipped 11

A significant majority of our respondents are not on a formal pathway
for frailty or have ever received an assessment. Equally, most do not
have a care plan in place which covers frailty.

This pattern was identified at the mid-point review but has persisted

despite increased targeted engagement to enhance. m




Current Health

3. How would you describe your current health or resilience?

Response Response

Answer Choices Percent Total

1 I'mvery fit and active ] 29.29% 152
> ;Tti\\:;e"‘ but not regularly - 16.38% 85
| have some health limits
3  but can manage most _ 37.57% 195
things Around 55% of respondents acknowledge
| find it harder to get ..
o5 | | eround, | sometimes they have some personal level of limits to
(@] need help to walk with 0 . .
o * walking aics or somsone — 15.80% | 82 their health, which for many can make
= o help me to get out o . . .
= [ my home. daily tasks and jobs challenging.
I'm quite dependent on 0
2 others for daily tasks <Gk it
I'm completely dependent
on others for daily tasks n
6 and getting out of my I 1-35% 7
home
7 Not sure/prefer not to say I 0.96% 5
answered 519
skipped 7

A
|



The term “Frailty”

7. How well do you understand the term “frailty”?

Answer Choices Response Response

Percent Total
1 Very well I 30.25% 157
2 Somewhat ] 22% 271
I've heard of it but don't o
-Uealty understand it - 15.61% 81
lQJ :;)l::ver heard of it i 1.03% 10
@D
N answered 519
= skipped 7
oo

What is your age?

How well do you understand the term “frailty™? 85and over | Aged 75-84 Aged 6574 Aged 50-64 | Under 50 Prefer not to say
. " 10 42 69 32 3 0
enywe 45.5% 31.1% 29.6% 28.1% 231% 0.0%
10 74 121 56 9 1
hy

Somewhat 45.5% 54,8% 51.9% 49.1% 69.2% 50.0%
" . . 2 18 8 22 1 1
I've heard of it but don't really understand it a1e 13.3% 16.3% 19.3% — 50.0%
0 1 5 4 0 ]

" )
ve never heard of t before 0.0% 0.7% 2.1% 3.5% 0.0% 0.0%

A
|

The older a respondent, the more likely they are to fully understand the
phrase “frailty”, with almost twice as many understanding at 85+
compared with those under 50.

When looking at the 91 respondents who
indicated a lack of knowledge, their
suggested definitions showed similar
patterns to those who felt more confident
in defining them.

needing
getting meIIlt‘f less risk
fall able Old

s T sewneaIth

| e a5Ks
difficulties ’ e VU|nerab|e
mental weak due 98€ '
e falls .

weakr::eige I _thll‘lgs

ability illness physical help

NHS



What kinds of support do you think help people age

well and stay independent for longer?

i‘&. Whag kinds of support do you think help people age well and stay independent for Respondents prioritised proactive
onger? (Select up to 3) o
management of long-term conditions, and
N I T C I Response Response - . .
Percent  Total opportunities for social connection and
Advi healthy lifestyl diet, 0 1 1
1| Advics on heallhy festyles (Clet, . 071% | 160 friendships.
2 | om0 oG e | 6571% | 358 | |
. Opportunities for soca — o | This was a_Iso reflected in many of the
connection and friendships conversations that took place through the
Infi i d advi bout o
O | gengwel | 2802% 146 targeted engagement.
%5 :zgz;sa;o local community 24.95% 130
|_\ « . . . .
? Home adaptations or equipment [ 46.07% 240 PartICIpantS hlghly valued belng with their
7 | Support for carers and famiies [N 23.42% 122 peers in a structured environment
8 | Help with finances or housing [l 8.45% 44 supporting their mobility (e.g. Fit 4 All).
9 | Other (please specify): - 9.21% 48
answered 521
skipped 5

A
g NHS



Support for Frailty

11. Have you (or someone you care for) ever received support related to frailty? 13. Did the support or intervention make a difference?

Response Response

Answer Choices
P . R R
ercent Total Answer Choices ::fc‘::'ste e:gtoar:se
1 Yes ] 29.75% 155
2 No [ 7025% %6 1) Yes oAk | %
answered 521 2 SomeWhat 3462% 54
U skipped 5 3 No 6.41% 10
QD
% 4  Not applicable [ | 3.85% 6
= answered 156
B skipped 370
Around 30% of respondents have ~ = However, of those who do, around 90%
personal experience in dealing with felt that the support they had been
frailty. offered by local organisations made a

difference.

A
g NHS




Support for Frailty cont/ ...

When focusing on those who told us

H ind d
support_made a lelfference, respondgnts o da:hs  services fall_balance mm‘c?d:n";” er:‘;zicaﬁm
emphasised the importance of enabling social " time ;- mobility ¢, hn0rted  mum stay
the patient to stay in their own homes maﬂ:ﬁ; advice hospital famity <

. parents
for If)nger and the support offered for ohysio Walking PErsoON yaning
family and loved ones. lost ,er NEALLH _ da

life mother y
.- house CAlers equipment
H H H great
% Multiple responSfes highlight the valu.e of . helpedbe" Su Ort
. the support received at the end-of-life
N phase. They appreciated how external assistance " husband  perconal  appointments

independently

support helped in signposting and
coordinating services, alleviating worries
for elderly or vulnerable people
individuals.

“My husband is 92 and has Alzheimer's. Thanks to the help we have had he is able to lead a fuller life. He goes
into the Beacon Day Centre at Mayfair three times a week using Ring and Ride, which gives him a feeling of
A L independence. Whilst he is there he has a happy and relaxed time playing games or just sitting reading the

newspaper with lots of fun and laughter. He feels recognised and valued as a person and has gained much of his
" previous self confidence, which he lost as he lost his memory.”




What do you think would help people live a happier,

healthier and longer life as they age?

Response  Response

Answer Choices Percent Total

1 S;I\I:iacreasccess to local health _ 62 07% 324
When considering what respondents felt would ) | | oo |
. . ° Clinics that Nk with your N
help people live a h.appler, hea.lth.le.r and_longer R — S
life as they age, whilst most prioritised different 4 Helpwith nution and hycration [N 5% 83
factors in a consistent way across cohorts, there > | Supportforcares and fumles e
6  Clearerinformation about frailty | [ 14.18% 74
were differences when viewed against a 7 Sodalcomnecton and neliness | ey e o
o respondent's current health/resilience. M 8_| Other (please specify) u T
g skipped 4
® : - -
— * Poorer health: Respondent’s with poorer , | Moot duorb your et o o vulence? . _ .
N . . o What da you Think would I'm o waell, bust I have e0me | Tl it hiardiar b gt ancaard, | 1 g rm completaky Hat
N health prioritised better access to local health helppepe e s e i | ey | "ARTISEA | | e eedipiomalt | depeden | depndent en s 4 |
1 H H . they age? (Select up 1o ... et aetive maet things helpy me 10 get ot of iy fome taks ot of iy hame T
services and receiving clearer information e R = _ :
about frailty (likely due to age and poor | |
eyeSight). Hse:::::ﬁza 74 49 113 52 % L o
Trailty Clinic mear i7.0% ok o1.48% 2 TR H 8% 1905 0%
* Better health: Those with better health, likely -
in the earlier stages of frailty, placed far sogptyscty | ol iy e oo w| o
greater priority on support with staying | o |  am 2
physically active. =L - 2 |

Clearer

16 2 2 J
rdf:m-.nﬂn-u about 3T o a7% BETR 0.2% 143 0%
Trailty
Socia connection
R =] 47 70 35 T 3 2
pneliness 15.9% 18 55 19.0% 15 %% B0% 145 18.2%
support
Dher (please m & 11 3 4 o o

specify]: 28% 5% 1% 13% 4.8% 0o 0.0%




System Performance

Local services so that travel is at a
minimum. More home visits

More and better understanding and
trust of services that voluntary

19. How well do you feel services work together when caring for older frail people
(e.g. health, social care, voluntary services)?

rather than attending clinics.
More resources for OT and
Physiotherapy locally. More day
centres.

Seeing the same GP, having the
suume carers and social support so
that they are familiar with and to

the frail person

In the long term better preventative support in
those areas of frailty that it is suited to (e.g. falls
prevention). In the short-term ensuring a level of

social contact with others in a similar situation.

Mutual support is a motivating factor for improved
mental health and for continued physical activity.

organisations can provide along with
funding and an easier contracting
route for voluntary sector services to
deliver home from hospital &
preventative services.

Better joined up services. Better
listening skills by NHS. Faster
diagnosis. Less reliance on long
term opiates and other drugs
which result from delays

Improved up to date GP records. People cannot
get appointments and therefore struggle on
because there is no follow up or joined up
information, and they do not get diagnosed
with a condition by their GP surgery so nothing

is on their record

Response Response

Answer Choices Percent Total

1 Very well | 1.72% 9
2 Quite well B - 13.22% 69
Not very well ] 38.70% 202
QM all well [ 24.71% 129 "
5 Don't know Til 21.65% 113
answered 522
skipped 4

The majority of respondent’s (64%) felt that services don’t
work very well together caring for older frail people.

As a society we don’t treat older people well. We
leave them alone with numerous medications but
little preventative care or support. A healthy society
starts young and carries on through different ages.
People are living longer not because we are
healthier but have medication to prolong life but
without the care or quality for a good older age.




What matters most to you (or the person you care for) when

it comes to staying independent and well in later life

Key themes which emerge from this question include:

Financial Concerns

-
QD
«Q
(D
N
~

Financial Challenges brought on by the cost of funding

private care

Paying for mobility sessions and activities to help slow

down the onset of frailty

Perceived inequity between those who must privately fund

care, and those who receive state support

vel and Access

Rurality, and poor public transport links
Centralisation of services in larger towns

Social Interaction

Maintaining active social links, and reducing a feeling of

isolation

Notably relevant for those without children, many have
concerns around who will be there when they age

Access to GP Appointments

Financial challenges to buy the equipment and
services | need to be independent. | do receive
Attendance Allowance which is a great help,
but it doesn't cover the full cost.

A lot of people over 70 are single and
live on their own, the social side is as
important as the physical wellbeing
side.

I couldn’t have children, so | will have no one to help
me as | get older and | have a degenerative disease
which will only get worse, so at some point | will
need to move to sheltered accommodation.
However, unless you are on benefits, which I’'m not,
there are very few opportunities to move to suitable
accommodation.

Access to pain management and physio services
in a reasonable timescale. Current experience of
Shropshire pain management has been if they
can't intervene, ie ablation, they are not
interested in teaching management techniques.

Speed of referrals and being seen to
discuss ways forward. Waiting for
months and years can worsen a
condition considerably

I’'m already quite active but need to travel to most
activities by car. Socialising is very important but
some activities cannot provide this and there is a

cost involved. Groups like the U3A, WI etc aim to
bring people together but the Integrated Health
opportunities need to be better advertised.

* Being able to access their GP promptly and reliably, and
have confidence that the doctor they see will understand
their conditions and medical history



Digital Tools

Con5|der|ng the average age of reSpondents' the survey shows a hlgh 26. How confident are you using digital tools to manage health (e.g. apps, video

level of confidence compared to others. 79% of respondents are appointments, online forms)?
either ‘very’ or ‘somewhat’ confident, with only 9% choosing the " "
. B esponse esponse
bottom two options. Answer Choices pafcant Topm
1 Very confident 42.88% 223
However, confidence levels vary sngnlfu?antly by age. For those aged > | Somewhat confldent Ep— =
under 50, 67% tell us they are very confident, however for those aged
. 3 | Not very confident [ 12.50% 65
75+, this drops to below 32%.
4 Not confident at all . 5.77% 30
. . . . o
\thin the free text comments, there is a high degree of general 5 | I donot use digital tools 3.08% 16
[Bsitancy towards technology replacing human interaction, answered | 520
@Brticularly from the older age groups. Equally respondents reference skipped 6
@or broadband reliability in rural areas, the lack of a single system
f8# all records and appointments, and unclear access to reliable
inform ation . . What is your age?
How confident are you using digital tools to manage health (e.g. apps, video 85 and Aged 75 Aged 65- Aged 50- Under Prefer not to
appointments, online forms)? over 84 74 64 50 say
W fident 2 | 44 . 109 58 B . 1 |
e 9.5% 32.1% 46.8% 504% | 66.7% 50.0%
3 a2 BS 40 4 1
somewhat confident 23.8% 38.0% 36.5% 34.8% 33.3% 50.0%
Not fident 10 24 2 10 0 0
b 47.6% 17.5% 9.0% 8.7% 0.0% 0.0%
Mot confident at all ! 12 'z : J .
4.8% B.8% 2.2% 4.3% 0.0% 0.0%
I do not use digital 3 5 1 2 0 0
tools 14.3% 3.6% 2.6% 1.7% 0.0% 0.0%
T T T T T







Targeted Face to Face Engagement Respondent

Breakdown (Demographics)

Total shared experiences: 305

 Age ranges 50 to 90+, with the majority in their 70s or 80s.
 The gender ratio is approximately 3 females to 1 male (no one identified as transgender)

Postcodes for locations of engagement

e Telford and Wrekin: 17
* Shropshire: 16 (including WV postcodes inside our border)
@ome groups had a mix of Shropshire, Telford, and Wrekin residents; 1 person was from Wales)

™
}@emographics:
D Ethnicity: White British 287, Asian 2, Afro-Caribbean (Jamaican) 14, Romanian 1.

Group characteristics

* Carers, long-term health conditions, old age, frailty (as defined by the strategy), digitally excluded, rural, urban,
diverse community, and economically deprived backgrounds.

A
g NHS



Key Headlines from Face-to-Face Engagement

Question 1: What do you understand by the term frailty, and do you
identify as frail?

People associate the word frailty with losing mobility (particularly associated with
falls), old age, personal vulnerability, physical or mental frailty, and a reduced ability
to complete daily physical tasks. It was seen as a negative word and, for some in the
Jamaican community, particularly offensive. The majority of people did not see
themselves as frail, as they could still do things for themselves and maintained a

positive mindset of ‘keeping going.” Where people accepted, they were frail, it was
because of specific conversations with health professionals or falls.

o3/’ve been told | am too frail for surgery if they find | have bowel cancer. So, | must be

frail, but at 87, what can you expect? | can still do things for myself and walk here to this

group and the Albrighton surgery, so I’'m not too frail yet but | have come to terms with my
health.

T abed

Several younger people felt they had periods of being frail during treatment, a flare-up
or hospital admission, but in general didn’t consider themselves frail.

Healthy Ageing was not seen as the absence of health-related issues but rather
continuing to be involved in community life and retaining independence. It should be
noted that these comments came from the more physically able.




Key Headlines from Face-to-Face Engagement

Question 2: Have you or someone you care for ever received support related to frailty?

62T Sbed

Most individuals were not able to identify specific frailty services but described experiences with general practice, hospital
outpatient/inpatient/emergency department services, falls clinics/falls prevention classes, exercise/social groups, carer (paid
and unpaid), and provision of equipment.

General Practice - positive comments focused on the care and treatment when seeing a healthcare professional. Some
practices were named as excellent. Negative comments were around the difficulty in making an appointment, continuity of care,
and transport to appointments, particularly for more urban practices. The majority of people aged 78 and above were not able to
use online booking services or the NHS App. They relied heavily on younger family members to make appointments for them or to
phone the surgery themselves and reported considerable delays in receiving treatment.

Acute Hospitals - positive comments were focused on the care and treatment received as outpatients. Negative comments were
generally about ambulance wait times, emergency departments, and some inpatient care for older people and those with
dementia, lack of respect for older people, and transport issues. START support on the Rehabilitation ward was named as
excellent (Shropshire Community Trust).

Community groups were considered very positive in maintaining levels of fitness and social connection. Negative comments were
around difficulties getting to groups for non-drivers and those with poor mobility. Falls prevention classes were seen as effective.
Hospice care and support groups were reported as excellent. The Black and Asian community members reported generally
seeking help from within their community, family, or faith group.

Areas of concern -negative experiences had prevented some from seeking help, either because of a fear of hospital admission
or difficulty making an appointment. Those without younger family/friends, digitally excluded, from diverse communities, with
poor health literacy, and without transport were worst affected.



Key Headlines from Face-to-Face Engagement

Question 3: What would make care and support for people with
frailty better in your view?

Answers to this question were diverse depending on an individual’s experience,
background, and location.

Common themes were:

* Physical access - availability of transport to appointments, including GP and
community groups

Access to book appointments -simplified, person-based, not online
Timely help

‘0ct abed

Simplify forms and information

Attitude of staff - respect for older people and knowledge of frailty
Home visits -general practice professionals doing home visits for housebound
e Carers - increased provision in rural areas

* Taking responsibility for oneself and planning ahead
* Annual in-person checks for all older people

* Supported living and care homes having visits from GPs, and other health
professionals regularly

* Advocates and health professionals from diverse communities

* (Care plans and one person to co-ordinate care and a single point of access for all
health needs



Key Headlines from Face-to-Face Engagement

Question 4: How should information and support about
ageing well and frailty be communicated to ensure
accessibility for all?

Very few people we spoke to were confident online. Most people’s preferred
communication by:

Written format via local newsletters/magazines, leaflets and posters

From known trusted sources such as community groups, health and social
care professionals, libraries, friends/ family, and peer groups.

Those who were online often used Facebook, Email and Googled topics.

Work with diverse communities ‘grassroots’ initiatives to combine health
information with community events.

* Radio and black radio stations

* Information in lots of different formats, including braille, spoken, large print
and written

TST sbed .

A
|



Key Headlines from Face-to-Face Engagement

Question 5: Is there anything else you would like to
consider?

* Access to health and care services was the most frequent additional issue
to consider - this related to difficulty using online access and physical
barriers to access such as distance and transport (for example general
practice and acute hospitals).

Social connection was repeated often as something important to consider.
This includes family connections and social networks in community.

The relationship of confidence and motivation with frailty came up at
various times

* A number of people gave feedback about the health and wellbeing needs of
unpaid family carers

* Other feedback included the benefit of exercise, timing of services, frailty
amongst working age population and differing cultural attitudes to ageing

2SI abed

*Many people used this question as an opportunity to emphasise points that

had been raised already




Key Headlines from Paper Survey

eeT abeg

From the 150 paper surveys distributed, only 4 responses were
received.
The questions on the paper survey were the same as those used in

the Face-to-Face Engagement.

As a result, the themes identified from the paper survey responses
aligned with those from the face-to-face engagement and have

therefore been included with the Face-to-Face qualitative analysis.

Demographics:

3 female, 1 male
2 White British 2 no answer provided
Ages 61, 81, 81, 85

3 Shropshire SY2,3,7, 1 Telford TF7






Online Professional Survey Respondent Breakdown

(Demographics)

In total, 79 professionals responded to the online professional survey. This breaks
down as follows:

0 rganisation NumberofResponses Postcode Area NuthPUfRESpUHSES
Eumm”mtypar?Drgamsatm" & Telford (including W olverhampton) 78
VL SE 0 rganisation [ Sh i 74
Shropshire Community Health NHS Trust g ropsnire

MPUFT 8 OutofArea B

Bhrupshire Council
%GF' Practice
elford & Wrekin Council
%}ge LK
The Robert Jones and Agnes Hunt 0 rthopaedic Hospital
Keele University
NHS Shropshire, Telford and W rekin
Severn Valley Railway
The Shrewsbury and Telford Hospital NHS Trust
VISS Sign Language Interpreting Service (Shropshire) Ltd.

N g B~ o -3

A
g NHS




Key Headlines

Total Responses: 79. Largely split between local professionals working in health or social care (55%) and local VCSE
professionals or volunteers (34%).

Understanding of 'Frailty’:
— 97% of local professionals have a strong understanding of the term ‘very well’ or ‘somewhat’.

— The general public often misunderstand the term, associating it with negative connotations, and is not something
that can be influenced. Many responses reference a sentiment that frailty is an inevitable part of aging and directly
5 associated with old age.

SFrailty Assessment:

— 28% of respondents had used a frailty assessment scale previously.
— Around two thirds of these respondents had received formal training.
Opportunities for Improvement:

— Early identification of frailty is challenging as a result of perceived under-investment and a lack of resource in the
community.

— Improved training for staff and increased awareness of frailty and local support services are needed for those
working with mild to moderate frailty patients.

Digital Tools:
— Digital tools are valuable but should compliment, not replace, the personal care.

— Implementation should be inclusive, considering those with who lack digital skills, do not speak English as a primary
language, or are BSL speakers

D

=
w
(@)



What do you see as the main gaps in service provision

for people living with mild to moderate frailty*

Key Themes include:
Lack of Early Identification & Prevention
— Recognition of frailty and symptoms of within primary and community care can be poor, which prohibits the early identification and intervention.
— Frailty is still largely associated with old age, leading to reduced awareness within younger adults.
Insufficient Preventative Services
— Many services and groups are located in larger towns, leading to inequality for those living in rural areas.
— Community based falls prevention services are felt to be under-resourced, and an overall sentiment that services are reactive, rather than

proactive.
_Jragmented and Complex Service Navigation
g — Services are disconnected, and there is a lack of overall care coordination.
D

- Patients lack a single point of contact, which leads to a lack of continuity of care and disconnected services.
“Yorkforce & Resource Shortages

— There is an overall feeling that there is a disconnect between ambitions for care, and the reality of what is deliverable within the existing and
proposed financial envelope.

— The county has a shortage of professional health and care staff, which prohibits staff delivering care to the best of their ability.
Barriers to Accessing Services

— Poor public transport networks across the rural areas of the county are a significant barrier

— There is a risk that those who are not IT literate face exclusion from being able to easily access services.
Mental Health and Dementia Support Gaps

— Mental health conditions within older people are not well understood, and support is under-resourced.
Social Isolation & Community Disconnection

— Particularly within rural communities, there are limited opportunities for social interaction amongst the older and potentially frail age groups,
which leads to isolation and loneliness.



Key Quotes

| think people assume that frailty is just weakness as
we age and to be expected in our latter years as part
of normal ageing, rather than the resilience to
bounce back from minor ill health to extend living life
as healthy as possible.

One significant gap is the underinvestment in community-

oased falls prevention programmes. There is a clear need

for these services to be delivered by appropriately trained
specialist instructors with a thorough understanding of

Frailty. At present, some exercise sessions are marketed as

~uitable for older adults but are not tailored to the specific
needs of those living with frailty, posing a risk of harm

rather than benefit.

It is good to see an increased focus on prevention
and education - the reality of the proposals within
current and future funding is debatable

I am part of a service that focuses on frailty between mild
to moderate levels so | would like to believe that |
understand frailty well in all health-related contexts. The
general public might have less understanding and refer to
a frailty as either a single condition (e.g. dementia) or it is
inevitable in the journey of an individual's life.

It is the overall holistic approach on a national scale that is

lacking. So much of our resources are understandably being

put towards the acute and reactionary nature of healthcare
including A&E departments etc. However, if a wide variety

of health professionals were pooled together to form hubs

that cover their patches across the country like our service

then | would like to think frailty as a condition would be
better managed.

Supported living for people who may have mild to
moderate frailty are often stretched for resources.
The spaces can be taken by people who may be more
severly frail instead, in places that are not suitable
for them. This has a domino effect - those with mild
frailty may be overlooked.

At present there is a reliance on family, neighbours
and voluntary services to provide support. As our
population ages demand is increasing and the
resource to support is not there. It is key to engage
with individuals at stage 3 who may not be
presenting at their GP or other health professional
before they become vulnerable.

This strategy would ensure that individuals presenting as 'frail' would primarily be addressed

as people, not numbers or just problems. Patients are more likely to get on board with our
recommendations and advice if they feel like they are being listened to. If our patients are on
board with this, it will reduce the dependency on other specialist teams in the community and
reduce the pressure on acute trusts and A&E departments.







Vision for the future

We asked: Considering the vision for the future ...

What don’t you like? What do you like about it? What would you change?
— Negative word - Frailty — Talks about inequalities * Addition of reversal of sever/med frailty to lower or less
— Mental health isn’t visible — Neighborhood /place-based — How does it refer to it being person centered / holistic
and need an outcome for aspect approach with joined up services. (This includes
it _ public and workforce digital aspects across services)
— Too focused on the older understanding (The — Does it need objectives around how services interact
5 adult education piece) and ensure patients are accessing appropriate
& Target age - Is 50yrs old — General feel is that it all services at the correct time
® t00 high or too young? sounds positive — Educate - Make it fun
S Cost of preventative — Universal offer being 50+ — Peer support with real examples and real people
interventions/funding for and not an older starting — More focus on prevention, 50-70 age chart
public age — 1G to be resolved to allow services to work together
— Importance of education — Education on triggers, i.e losing work, retirement,
— System approach bereavement, becoming a carer, having an
— Care co-ordination - Single injury/operation
point of access — Individuals' acceptance of frailty
— Early intervention — Who does the education and how?
— Patient engagement — More assertive outreach to underserved communities

development — Digital tools / Shared care record

NHS



The Future - 2028

People are living and aging well, and those who experience frailty are still able to live with safety, dignity and
autonomy. What did we do to get there?

wn
]
2
o
)
n
£
>
x
>
g
%
g
]
©
‘©
2
()
2
c
>

*A consistent directory
of services available
in both digital and
hard copy.

*Every practice and
area having access to
the same level of
service provision.

*Self-referral options
and timely access to
the right
interventions.

*Tackling inequalities
through equity of
access, not just
equality

Impact :

A fairer system where
no one is left behind
due to geography,
age, or digital
exclusion.

Integrated, person-centred care systems = %

- 3

*One point of contact
for individuals.

*Seamless transitions
(e.g., hospital to
home).

*Shared care records
and digital
connectivity.

*A single referral
system staffed by
professionals trained
in both health and
social care.

elmpact

People experience
smoother, more
coordinated care
journeys, reducing
stress and improving
outcomes.

Prevention First and community-based approaches }:Ejv

*Community health
hubs and peer
support groups.

*Affordable or free
access to
preventative services.

*Public health
campaigns promoting
healthy lifestyles.

*Use of wearable tech
and Al to monitor and
support wellbeing.

*Impact

Empowered
individuals to take
control of their health
and reduced the
burden on acute
services.

Education and culture change |

*Awareness of frailty
and ageing as a
normal part of life.

*Health coaching and
lifestyle education
from a young age.

*Changing perceptions
and language around
ageing and frailty.

*Building trust with
diverse communities
and cultural leaders.

°Impact

A more informed and
compassionate
society, where ageing
is seen as positively
and support is
proactive.

Sustainable investment and co-production

*5-10 year funding
models to allow
services to grow and
innovate.

*Co-production with
people with lived
experience.

*Strong partnerships
across voluntary,
community, and
statutory sectors.

*A shared charter or
pledge to drive
accountability and
continuous
improvement.

*Impact

Stability, innovation,
and trust in the
system, ensuring it
could evolve with
community needs.







Key themes /areas to review / change within the
strategy

Understanding of Frailty

Access and Equity

o
Q

Invo%ment in Care
H

N
w

Service Gaps
Carer and Social Support
Digital Tools and Communication

Professional Insights

Many public respondents associate frailty with old age, falls, and vulnerability. Most face-to-face participants did not identify as frail, even when they
met clinical criteria. Professionals noted that the term is misunderstood and often seen as inevitable or negative.

Survey respondents highlighted poor access in rural areas, digital exclusion, and a postcode lottery in service provision. Face-to-face participants
cited transport and digital barriers. Listening event attendees stressed the need for equity, not just equality, in access.

99.5% of survey respondents said it’s important for frail people to be involved in care decisions. However, many reported not being assessed for
frailty or having a care plan. Face-to-face feedback showed people often rely on family or wait until crisis to seek help.

Professionals identified lack of early identification, under-resourced preventative services, and fragmented care. Public feedback echoed this, with
many unaware of frailty services and reporting poor coordination and lack of a single point of contact.

Both surveys and engagement sessions highlighted the importance of social connection and the role of unpaid carers. Many carers feel unsupported.
Social groups were praised for maintaining wellbeing, but access was limited for non-drivers or isolated individuals.

Survey showed digital confidence declines with age (only 32% of 75+ very confident). Face-to-face participants preferred printed materials and
trusted sources like community groups. Listening event feedback stressed digital tools must not replace human interaction.

Professionals called for better training, more community resources, and inclusive digital solutions. They noted that frailty is often not recognised
early enough and that services are reactive rather than proactive.



Year 1

e We will develop ways to reliably identify those at
risk, or with, frailty.

e We will try different approaches to test ways of
changing the way we organise and join up
services to support healthy aging, this includes
co-production and our workforce. We will
evgjuate these projects to make sure we use our
resburces well and meet the needs of our
re@dents with good results.

° will look at the opportunities that digital
sepvices can offer to our workforce and our
residents and how we might use these, especially
to plan care. We will be aware that not all
residents are confident with digital tools and
plan for this too.

e We will develop our Information Governance,
and how we measure improvement to lay the
foundations for the strategy. This will include
developing a set of achievement to ensure we
meet our aims and objectives.

e We will understand the population needs at
place and neighbourhood levels which will help
us plan for the different needs of our residents.

e We will develop an education and training
programme.

e We will be using assessment tools to assess
those residents who are at risk or living with
frailty consistently.

e We will be using proactive care pathways which
are being evaluated to ensure they are effective

e We will co-ordinating the care of our residents.
e We will have increased awareness and

educational interventions to support the
workforce.

e We will understand some of the improvements
identified in year 1 and how to scale them up.

e We will have interventions in place at
neighbourhood level aimed at our rural
communities and those communities where
there is deprivation, or where there a need to
level up health services for those at risk or with
frailty.

e We will have implemented relevant digital tools.

e Provide a universal prevention offer including a
proactive invitation to those at risk of frailty and
mildly frail adults over 50 to access an online
health education resource; signpost to local
statutory and VCSE offers for supported self-
management of frailty risk factors.

e We will continue the work of year 1 and 2 to
continue to drive improvement in services and
outcomes of our population.

e We will have evaluated our progress and be able
to describe the outcomes of the interventions to
educate, prevent, identify, manage and care for
those at risk of or living with frailty. This will be
including the experiences of residents, their
carers, and the workforce.




b, Integrated

| Care System

Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin

NHS

Shropshire, Telford
and Wrekin

47



). ntegrated NHS

lr Care System Shropshire, Telford
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin and erkin

Acknowled

NHS Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin ICB would

iike to express thanks to the colleagues and

partners for their support in the engagement
exercise.




b, Integrated NHS

lr Care System Shropshire, Telford
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin and erkin




Key Links

Full survey questions
Survey Questions

Questions

Other strategies that are relevant to this piece of work:
N Healthy Ageing and Frailty Strategy for 2025 to 2028

(@)
@

« Telford & Wrekin Council, Ageing Well Partnership Board. Co-produced by residents, Age UK, NHS,
®Healthwatch, and other partners, following an engagement survey (July-Sept 2022) with >2,800

responses the Ageing Well Strategy
* JSNA data

o Telford & Wrekin Council | Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) population headlines
o JSNA - Joint Strategic Needs Assessment | Shropshire Council

 Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin’s Joint Forward Plan
UK

A
| & NHS



https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/Healthy-Ageing-and-Frailty-Strategy-Public-Survey.pdf
https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/Healthy-Ageing-and-Frailty-Strategy-Public-Survey.pdf
https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/Healthy-Ageing-and-Frailty-Strategy-Professional-Survey.pdf
https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/Healthy-Ageing-and-Frailty-Strategy-Professional-Survey.pdf
https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/STW-Healthy-Ageing-and-Frailty-Strategy-DRAFT-27-01-25.pdf
https://www.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/STW-Healthy-Ageing-and-Frailty-Strategy-DRAFT-27-01-25.pdf
https://www.telford.gov.uk/adult-social-care-asc/ageing-well/
https://www.telford.gov.uk/adult-social-care-asc/ageing-well/
https://www.telford.gov.uk/about-my-council/telford-and-wrekin-insight/joint-strategic-needs-assessment-jsna-population-headlines/
https://next.shropshire.gov.uk/public-health/jsna-joint-strategic-needs-assessment/
https://view.officeapps.live.com/op/view.aspx?src=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.shropshiretelfordandwrekin.ics.nhs.uk%2Fwp-content%2Fuploads%2F2025%2F03%2F25-30-Joint-Forward-plan-Final.docx&wdOrigin=BROWSELINK
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2F10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future&data=05%7C02%7Charriet.hopkins%40nhs.net%7C460709a229dd4fbe661908ddbf0250c1%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C0%7C638876738850966898%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=O3kW5MvXHHye2l4azqxaw4%2BKs0xu1stLFOuH%2FJuP4j0%3D&reserved=0
https://gbr01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fgovernment%2Fpublications%2F10-year-health-plan-for-england-fit-for-the-future&data=05%7C02%7Charriet.hopkins%40nhs.net%7C460709a229dd4fbe661908ddbf0250c1%7C37c354b285b047f5b22207b48d774ee3%7C0%7C0%7C638876738850966898%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJFbXB0eU1hcGkiOnRydWUsIlYiOiIwLjAuMDAwMCIsIlAiOiJXaW4zMiIsIkFOIjoiTWFpbCIsIldUIjoyfQ%3D%3D%7C0%7C%7C%7C&sdata=O3kW5MvXHHye2l4azqxaw4%2BKs0xu1stLFOuH%2FJuP4j0%3D&reserved=0

). [ntegrated !lZlE

J Care System Shropshire, Telford
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin and Wrekin

Healthy Ageing Strategy
2025-2028

Supporting Information

Page 149



Our population

Table 1. The population context in Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin

Shropshire Telford & Wrekin
Total population 324 186
(thousand)
Populationage 65and 84 i 2023 (117 by2035) 34 in2023 (45 by 2035)
over (thousand) o o
26% 18%
(above national average of (same as the national average®)
18%*)
e expectancy 80 for males 78 for males
at bi
84 for females 82 for females
(above national average of 79  (below national average of 79 for
for males, 83 for females) males, 83 for females)
Healthy life expectancy 63 for males 58 for males
at birth
67 for females 60 for females
(above the national average of  (below national averages of 63 and
62 for males and 63 for 64)
females)
Years of life lived in poor 17 for males 20 for males
health
17 for females 22 for females

Gap in life expectancy at - 5 5 years for males 8.8 years for males
birth between the most

and least deprived areas 3.0 Years for 6.4 years for females

fema|es (below national average of 9.7 for

_ males, 7.9 for females)
(below national average of 9.7

for males, 7.9 for females)

Gap in healthy life 4 years males 12 years males
expectancy between

most and least deprived 3 Years females 12 years females
areas

Risk Factors

As a multi-factorial condition, frailty is associated with a wide range of correlates including’:

e Polypharmacy e Impaired memory and cognition
e Deficits in vision and hearing e Social isolation

Page 150



e Physical inactivity e Mood disorders

e Poor balance and falls e Financial stress
¢ Smoking and excess alcohol e Poor nutrition
consumption

We have estimated the number of people aged over 65 in STW living with risk factors for frailty
(Table 2 ), based on prevalence estimates from the scientific literature. These figures do not take
into account local population characteristics which may differ from the samples used to estimate
prevalence (for example ethnic mix, deprivation, rurality) and prevalence estimates are not
available for the co-occurrence of risk factors, which increases frailty risk. As such these figures
should be taken as an approximate illustration of the scale of the challenge, and its inexorable
growth, and the important risk factors to target. For example, we estimate that there are around
47,000 over 65 year olds taking five or more medications, and that this will rise to 65,000 by 2035.
Some other examples are 35,000 over 65s falling at least once a year, nearly 30,000 with hearing
loss, 26,000 drinking more than the recommended amount of alcohol and 20,000 who are lonely

some or all of the time.

Risk Stratification

The Electronic Frailty Index (eFl) is a validated method of using existing information from coding in
primary care records to identify patients who are likely to be frail, and to estimate the level of frailty,
based on a ‘cumulative deficit model’ which counts coding relating to 36 deficits including
symptoms, signs, disease, disabilities and abnormal test values?. A greater number of these
deficits means a higher eFl score and a prediction of more severe frailty. Higher eFl scores are
linked with increased risk of mortality, emergency admission and care home admission at 1, 3 and
5 years, with risk increasing approximately linearly with increasing frailty: compared to fit over 65s,
the hazard ratio for mortality, emergency admission or care home admission is approximately

double for the mildly frail, triple for the moderately frail and quadruple for those with severe frailty>.

Whilst eFl scores do not correlate strongly with clinically assessed frailty, clinical assessment is
infeasible at the scale needed within available resources and priorities, and at a population level
eFl is a good predictor of negative outcomes and therefore suitable for risk stratification. Itis
therefore recommended that eFl is used as the method for estimating the likely number of frail
adults in our population, and as the basis for identifying eligible patients for proactive offers of care.
However, due to the fact it provides a prediction of frailty status, and is validated for the over 65
cohort only (whereas frailty onset is commonly younger in population groups at highest risk, such
as those living in deprivation), additional routes into care offers should also be established. These

routes should include referrals from relevant professionals and the use of eligibility criteria that

Page 151



recognise the need to intervene earlier and more actively for those in CORE20+ groups. An
estimation of the approximate number of older adults in eFl frailty categories in STW is shown in

Figure 1.

Page 152



Table 2. Estimated number with frailty risk factors among the population aged over 65 in Shropshire and Telford & Wrekin

Prevalence

Estimated number in 2023 (projected in

2035)*

STWICS

Shropshire

Telford &
Wrekin

Overweight

75% overweight or obese*
30% obesity

88,000 (121,000) overweight
35,000 (49,000) obese

63,000 (88,000)
25,000 (35,000)

25,000 (34,000)
10,000 (14,000)

Memory loss

40% age-associated memory impairment®6
15% mild cognitive impairment’

(
(

47,000 (65,000) memory impairment
(

34,000 (47,000)
13,000 (18,000)

13,000 (18,000)
5,000 (7,000)

)
18,000 (24,000) mild cognitive impairment
)

Polypharmac 31% aged 65-74; 50% aged 75+8 47,000 (65,000) taking 5 or more 34,000 (47,000) 13,000 (18,000)
medications
y
Inactive 29% aged 65-74; 52% aged 75+° 47,000 (65,000) inactive 34,000 (47,000) 13,000 (18,000)
-d=alls 30%10 35,000 (49,000) falling annually 25,000 (35,000) 10,000 (14,000)
gDepression 25%M 29,000 (40,000) depressed 21,000 (29,000) 8,000 (11,000)
( )

@ .
—Hearing loss

25% mild or worse hearing loss in the better ear?

29,000 (40,000) mild or worse hearing loss

21,000 (29,000)

8,000 (11,000)

YExcess

Increasing risk drinkers 22% age 65-74; 15% age
75+13

22,000 (30,000) increasing risk drinkers
4,000 (6,000) higher risk drinkers

16,000 (22,000)
3,000 (4,000)

6,000 (8,000)
1,000 (2,000)

alcohol Higher risk drinkers 5% age 65-74; 2% aged 75+

Visual loss 14% ‘low vision’ (visual acuity <6/18 in better eye)’™> 17,000 (23,000) with low vision or worse 12,000 (16,000) 5,000 (7,000)

Loneliness 11% some of the time aged 65-74; 17% aged 75+ 16,000 (23,000) lonely some of the time 12,000 (16,000) 5,000 (6,000)
3% always or often'® 4,000 (5,000) lonely always or often 3,000 (4,000) 1,000 (1,000)

Smoking 7.6%" 9,000 (12,000) smokers 6,000 (9,000) 3,000 (3,000)

Underweight 3%'8 4,000 (5,000) 3,000 (4,000) 1,000 (1,000)

*rounded to the nearest thousand. Assumes constant prevalence and local prevalence is comparable to national evidence-based prevalence

estimate

Denominators from Office for National Statistics 2023 mid-year population estimates and 2018-based projections

STW ICS

Shropshire

Telford & Wrekin




Population over 65 in 2023 (2035)

117,890 (161,855)

84,358 (116,829)

33,532 (45,026)

Population 65-74 in 2023 (2035)

60,372 (82,692)

42,332 (58, 685)

18,040 (24,007)

Population 75 and over in 2023 (2035)

57,518 (79,163)

42,026 (58,144)

15,492 (21,019)

vGT obed



The estimates in Figure 1 are based on an assumption that 45% of over 65s are fit, 35% mildly
frail, 15% moderately frail and 5% severely frail, in line with the original validation sample of over
900,000? adults and consistent with the frailty profile of a second external sample of over 450,000
adults®>. However, longitudinal research found that an increasing proportion of people entered
moderate and severe frailty categories over an 11 year study period, with concomitant decreases
in the proportion with no frailty or mild frailty'®. In the period 2006-2017 the proportion of the
population in the severe frailty category increased from 5 to 15%, and those with moderate frailty
increased from 15 to 23% of the 2.2 million patients studied. Figure 2 shows the modelled impact
on healthcare costs of increasing frailty severity within the population, added to the projected
population growth. Note that the cost figures themselves are limited in scope to primary and
secondary healthcare (social care costs not included), and the unit cost data is from 2016-17. It
is therefore included to illustrate the potential magnitude of risk from not intervening to delay the
onset and progression of frailty, rather than for budgeting purposes. Details of the model

assumptions are available on request.

Severe 6,000
(1.5k; 4.5K) |

Moderate 19,000
(5k; 14k)

Mild 45,000
(12k; 33K) |

Fit 55,000
(15k; 40K)

Figure 1. Estimated number of adults falling into eFl frailty categories in STW
Red = Telford and Wrekin residents; Blue = Shropshire residents

Frailty interventions

Studies of community-based interventions for reversing frailty progression found that physical
activity, particularly group exercise classes, as well as nutritional and cognitive interventions

were all effective, with a greater effect when offered in combination?%-2”.

Page 155



Indicative annual healthcare costs
(£ millions)
under different intervention
scenarios

2016-17 NHS unit costs for primary and
secondary care

1000
500 ——
0
2025 2030 2035 2040
e Scenario 1: no intervention - population aged over 65 grows and % with

moderate and severe frailty grows

e Scenario 2: population growth plus intervention to SLOW $ growth in
moderate and severe frailty

e Scenario 3: population growth plus intervention to HALT % growth in
moderate and severe frailtv

Figure 2. lllustration of cost implications of different population frailty scenarios

Data from over 8,000 participants aged 50 and over from the English Longitudinal Study of
Ageing (ELSA) was analysed over a 12 year follow-up period, to identify potential determinants of
frailty and frailty progression?’. Findings suggest there may be scope to reduce both frailty
incidence and progression by reducing obesity and sedentary behaviour, increasing the
intensity of physical activity, and improving success of smoking cessation tools. There is
evidence that multicomponent exercise programmes combining strength, balance and aerobic
training are most effective?® and that intensity of physical activity is important: ELSA participants
who reported vigorous activity at least once a week had significantly reduced frailty progression
over a 10-year period but mild physical activity was insufficient to slow progression?®. Analysis of
ELSA data also revealed a dose-response relationship between progression of frailty over ten
years and increasing frequency of cultural engagement (visits to the cinema, theatre and
museums every few months or more frequently), after adjusting for confounders?®. The authors
conclude their findings are consistent with calls for multimodal, multifactor, community
approaches to supporting health in older age. Interventions to support mental, cognitive and
emotional health are considered to be particularly important as older adults may be less likely to
engage with exercise and nutrition interventions if mental wellbeing is not also addressed?, and
a Japanese study of frailty progression among community-dwelling older adults found that lower
levels of health literacy were a predictor of frailty progression over a 4-year follow-up period®.

Frailty prevention

Page 156



Interventions are needed to improve understanding of the range of risks and protective factors for
healthy ageing amongst our middle-aged and older population, and to improve uptake of risk-
reducing evidence-based interventions offered by health services, local authority and VCSE

partners, in line with STW'’s local care neighbourhood approach (Figure 3).

Our local care neighbourhood approach
will cultivate thriving communities by

focusing on collaboration, proactive HHS Comminity
o Services Substance Misuse/
healthcare, and holistic support e
Early Help, . Domestic Abuse
. Children & o LLEIrE,
Our aims are to: Family Hubs, Libraries, Sport
Youth Work SR Healthy Child Social Care &
\ Improve outcomes for - . 4 \ brogramme, | Planned Care
€ children, young people, and : A it
families. Community | Midwitery

Work & Play Groups & Voluntary

Promote early diagnosis and Benefits i .
&@) prevent avoidable illnesses in A 9 A&E &

the first place. @ Friends ) ioceing Urgent Care
Y ——
3, Z

& % Support people of all ages with (o
"' A ' self-care apq managing long SEND r : A : L y
<M term conditions. Learning . = “Neighbour-
- Disabilities an hood & | Courts &
p e Implement person-centred A aiom P \ Faith /Nursery/ Probation
-t = multidisciplinary care Family & <& \o -hildminder
approaches. \ Carers Local Shops  ~ <
SEN & School
= >’ Schools,
Achieve a greater emphasis Sociall . i _ Eurther
and use of social prescribing. prescribing, Care OE e Gas Ediicati Jctin
Co-ordination, Practitioners, uca '0"" Offending
Pharmacy ) Hubs, School Nursing
— Ensure people can access the Outreach
* 8 right help, at the right time, in = I Hiealth
2 [\, the right place within the local Children and i Gl
747 community. Young People Police, Fire Services

Mental Health & Rescue
Services

Figure 3. STW Local Care Neighbourhood Approach

The principle of proportionate universalism means that intervention should be offered to all
residents with a more intensive offer of support for those at risk of health inequality. To delay the
onset and slow the progression of early frailty, a digital health education resource to support self-
guided risk management is recommended as a universal offer, due to the large number in this
cohort, with additional support from health coaches to increase uptake of interventions®-*2 among

CORE20+ residents who are at risk of early frailty, prolonged disability and premature mortality.

Digital inclusion

The risk of excluding members of the cohort who are less likely to access digital offers must be
acknowledged and mitigated. Rates of engagement with the internet have increased steadily
since data collection began in 2013%%: by 2020, 85% of those aged 65-74 had used the internet
in the past 3 months, and 55% of those aged 75 and over. Rates have increased most markedly

9

Page 157



among older adults, and it is reasonable to assume they will continue to increase as more
digitally-skilled cohorts age. However, in 2020, 11% of 65-74 year olds had never used the
internet and 38% of those aged 75 and over. Rates of internet use are 10% lower among
disabled people aged 65-74 compared to non-disabled people, and 15% lower over the age of
75. Among Bangladeshi adults of any age, a further 10% have never used the internet compared
to the general adult population, and the disparity for older Bangladeshi adults may plausibly be
greater than this. At age 65-74, rates of internet usage are 2% lower among women than men,
widening to a 10% gap over age 75. People in socially and economically deprived communities

are also more likely to be digitally excluded34.

The pattern of digital exclusion to a large extent mirrors the pattern of health inequalities in older
age. This reinforces the need to augment the offer to CORE20+ groups with health coaching in
addition to initiatives that support digital inclusion. Without concerted and appropriately tailored
efforts to reach groups most at risk of poor health in older age, a solely digital approach may
compound the health gap. However, a population approach to digital self-management could
make an important contribution for a large number of digitally engaged older people. With the
ageing of cohorts who are already digitally engaged, it is anticipated that rates of digital exclusion
will continue to fall, although we must continue to recognise and monitor the uneven pattern of

digital exclusion and inequalities in frailty

Frailty management

For the smaller cohort of those with moderate frailty, a community-based workforce should
provide frailty assessment using a validated clinical tool as part of a holistic assessment of need,
co-produce care plans with patients supported by a multi-disciplinary team, make referrals, and
enable access to relevant statutory and VCSE offers. As frailty progresses, Comprehensive
Geriatric Assessment (CGA) is recommended as the backbone of a case-management approach
to ensuring the needs of those with severe frailty, whether living in the community or in a care
setting, are recognised and managed. CGA is a structured tool to assess medical, psychological
and functional capability in order to develop a co-ordinated and holistic care plan. Evidence
suggests that CGA can reduce the risk of unplanned hospital admission for those living with
frailty in the community, as well as improving medication, patient functioning, and quality of
care®®>%. In acute services, use of CGA by a dedicated multi-disciplinary team for the
assessment and management of patients with frailty, can reduce admissions, length of stay and
improve outcomes®”-*. Figure 4 summarises the key components of high quality frailty care in

community and hospital settings*’

10

Page 158



Key components of high quality frailty care in the community

Holistic assessment Multidisciplinary team Continuity of care

(@] consultations v
YN
el >0 (3

) D
c';;?;c'- ﬂ X

Care coordination tailored Individualised treatment and Medication review
to complexity self management support
[ [ ]

Figure 4a. Frailty: research shows how to improve frailty care in the community (NIHR)*

Key components of high quality frailty care in hospital

Comprehensive Advanced care Test for delirium Good continence
Geriatric Assessment planning ) care
Information on falls Medication review Improved Home first - default
prevention communication for discharge

Z}n ~ET* . oo ﬁ.

Figure 4b. Frailty: research shows how to improve frailty care in hospital (NIHR)*

Page 159

11



SMART Objectives

1. Delay and level-up the onset of frailty

a. Increase % of >65s in eFl fit or mild over 10 yr period; years 1-5 slow reduction in % who are
fit/mild

b. Reduce disparities in % of cohort and median cohort age by deprivation and ethnicity
2. Slow and level-up progression to severe frailty

a. Increase % moderately frail with i) frailty assessment score recorded in shared-care record, ii)
co-produced holistic care plan in shared-care record

b. Reduce % of >65s progressing to eFl severe over 10 yr period; years 1-5 slow increase in %
eFl severe

c. Reduce disparities by deprivation and ethnicity in objectives 2a-b; Reduce median age of
moderate frailty by deprivation and ethnicity

3. Improve and level-up quality of life for people living with moderate frailty

a. Increase moderate frailty cohort median quality of life score after implementing holistic care
plans

b. Reduce disparities by deprivation and ethnicity in median QoL scores among moderately frail
4. Improve and level-up quality of life for people living with severe frailty and their carers
a. Increase % severely frail with i) CGA, ii) holistic care plan and iii) case co-ordinator

b. Increase cohort median quality of life score after CGA and implementing co-produced holistic
care plans

c. Increase carer and patient median satisfaction scores among the severe frailty cohort

d. Reduce disparities by deprivation and ethnicity in objectives 4a-c; Reduce median age of
severe frailty by deprivation and ethnicity

5. Reduce and level up need for unplanned care among those with frailty

a. Reduce number of people living with frailty i) requiring unplanned care for all causes, ii)
requiring unplanned care as a result of a fall, iii) attending A&E for all causes, iv) admitted for
unplanned care

b. Reduce % of unplanned care episodes leading to admission among those with frailty; reduce
% of falls resulting in admission for frail patients

c. Reduce disparities by deprivation and ethnicity in objectives 5a-b
6. Support at end of life and level up end of life care

a. Increase % of severely frail with i) advance care plan, ii) ReSPECT plan, iii) preferred place of
death recorded, iv) death in preferred setting

b. Reduce disparities by deprivation and ethnicity in objective 6a

12

Page 160



Governance

Implementation of the strategy will be overseen by the Healthy Ageing Strategy Steering Group,
reporting to the Local Care Transformation and HTP Models of Care Group, and from there into

ShIPP and TWIPP. A working group for each pillar will report to the steering group.

Healthy Ageing and Fraillty Strategy
Steering Group

Health and Care Models Transformation
Group

ShIPP and TWIPP via Tsw Ageing Well Partnership
Board

ICP, ICB, HWBB

13

Page 161



Links to national policies and strategies
NHS Long Term Plan

NHS England » Personalised care

Skills for health Frailty-framework.pdf

Chief Medical Officer’s annual report 2023: health in an ageing society - GOV.UK

Geriatric medicine - Getting It Right First Time - GIRFT

Be proactive: Proactive care for older people with frailty | British Geriatrics Society

NHS England » Proactive care: providing care and support for people living at home with

moderate or severe frailty

Links to local policies and strategies

+ Joint Forward Plan

» STW Neighbourhood Approach

» Telford and Wrekin HWB Strategy
« T&W Ageing Well Strategy

« TWIPP Priorities

» Shropshire HWBB priorities

» Shropshire Plan

» Shropshire Prevention Framework
» ShIPP Priorities

» Long Term Conditions Strategy

» Palliative and End of Life Care Strategy

+ Falls Strategy

Page 162

14


https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/personalisedcare/
https://www.skillsforhealth.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Frailty-framework.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/chief-medical-officers-annual-report-2023-health-in-an-ageing-society
https://gettingitrightfirsttime.co.uk/medical_specialties/geriatric-medicine/
https://www.bgs.org.uk/ProactiveCare
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/proactive-care-providing-care-and-support-for-people-living-at-home-with-moderate-or-severe-frailty/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-read/proactive-care-providing-care-and-support-for-people-living-at-home-with-moderate-or-severe-frailty/

Abbreviations

ACP

CGA

eFl

FAU

HWBB

ICB

ICS

MDT

OHC

ReSPECT

SCR

ShiPP

SMART

STW

TWIPP

VCSE

Advance Care Plan
Comprehensive Geriatric Assessment
Electronic Frailty Assessment
Frailty Assessment Unit
Health and Well-Being Board
Integrated Care Board
Integrated Care System
Multi-Disciplinary Team
One Health and Care record (synonymous with SCR)
Recommended Summary Plan for Emergency Care and Treatment
Shard Care Record or Summary Care Record
Shropshire Integrated Place Partnership
Specific, measurable, achievable, relevant and timely (objectives)
Shropshire, Telford and Wrekin
Telford and Wrekin Integrated Place Partnership

Voluntary, Community and Social Enterprise

Page 163

15



References

1.

10.

11.

12.

13.

British Geriatrics Society. Fit for Frailty Part 1. Published 2014. Accessed January 15, 2025.
https://bgs.org.uk/fff full.pdf

Clegg A, Bates C, Young J, et al. Development and validation of an electronic frailty index
using routine primary care electronic health record data [published correction appears in Age
Ageing. 2018;47(2):319]. Age Ageing. 2016;45(3):353-360. doi:10.1093/ageing/afw039

Hollinghurst J, Fry R, Akbari A, et al. External validation of the electronic frailty index using
the population of Wales within the Secure Anonymised Information Linkage Databank. Age
Ageing. 2019;48(6):922-926. doi:10.1093/ageing/afz110

NHS Digital. Health Survey for England 2018: Adult and Child Overweight and Obesity.
Published 2018. Accessed January 15, 2025. https://live.com/HSE 18-Adult-Child-Obesity-
tab.xlsx

Small GW. What we need to know about age-related memory loss. BMJ.
2002;324(7352):1502-1505. doi:10.1136/bm;j.324.7352.1502

Ward A, Arrighi HM, Michels S, Cedarbaum JM. Mild cognitive impairment: disparity of
incidence and prevalence estimates. Alzheimers Dement. 2012;8(1):14-21.
doi:10.1016/j.jalz.2011.01.002

Richardson C, Stephan BCM, Robinson L, Brayne C, Matthews FE; Cognitive Function and
Ageing Study Collaboration. Two-decade change in prevalence of cognitive impairment in
the UK. Eur J Epidemiol. 2019;34(11):1085-1092. doi:10.1007/s10654-019-00554-x

NHS Digital. Health Survey for England 2016: Prescribed Medicines. Published 2016.
Accessed January 15, 2025. https://files.digital.nhs.uk/excel/4/2/hse2016-pres-med.xIsx

Sport England. Active Lives Survey 2017/18. Accessed January 15, 2025.
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/active-lives-
adult-may-17-18-report.pdf

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE). Falls in Older People: Assessing
Risk and Prevention: Clinical Guideline [CG161]. Published 2013. Accessed January 15,
2025. https://nice.org.uk/CG161

NHS Digital. Health Survey for England 2005: Health of Older People. Published 2005.
Accessed January 15, 2025. https://digital.nhs.uk/health-survey-for-england-2005

Morris AE, Lutman ME, Cook AJ, Turner D. An economic evaluation of screening 60- to 70-
year-old adults for hearing loss. J Public Health (Oxf). 2013;35(1):139-146.
doi:10.1093/pubmed/fds058

NHS Digital. Health Survey for England 2019: Adults’ Health-Related Behaviours. Published
2019. Accessed January 15, 2025. hitps://files.digital.nhs.uk/2E/B925DF/HSE19-Adult-
health-behaviours-tab.xlsx

16

Page 164


https://bgs.org.uk/fff_full.pdf
https://live.com/HSE18-Adult-Child-Obesity-tab.xlsx
https://live.com/HSE18-Adult-Child-Obesity-tab.xlsx
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/excel/4/2/hse2016-pres-med.xlsx
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/active-lives-adult-may-17-18-report.pdf
https://sportengland-production-files.s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.com/s3fs-public/active-lives-adult-may-17-18-report.pdf
https://nice.org.uk/CG161
https://digital.nhs.uk/health-survey-for-england-2005
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/2E/B925DF/HSE19-Adult-health-behaviours-tab.xlsx
https://files.digital.nhs.uk/2E/B925DF/HSE19-Adult-health-behaviours-tab.xlsx

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

Office for Health Improvement and Disparities. Local Alcohol Profiles for England. Published
2022. Accessed January 15, 2025. hitps://phe.org.uk/data/local-alcohol-profiles

van der Pols JC, Bates CJ, McGraw PV, et al. Visual acuity measurements in a national
sample of British elderly people. Br J Ophthalmol. 2000;84(2):165-170.
doi:10.1136/bjo.84.2.165

Office for National Statistics. Loneliness—What Characteristics and Circumstances Are
Associated With Feeling Lonely? Published 2018. Accessed January 15, 2025.
https://ons.gov.uk/loneliness

Office for National Statistics. Smoking Prevalence in the UK and the Impact of Data
Collection Changes: 2020. Published 2020. Accessed January 15, 2025.
https://ons.gov.uk/smoking-prevalence

Scientific Advisory Committee on Nutrition. SACN Statement on Nutrition and Older Adults
Living in the Community. Published 2021. Accessed January 15, 2025.
https://publishing.service.gov.uk/SACNO

Fogg C, England T, Zhu S, et al. Primary and secondary care service use and costs
associated with frailty in an ageing population: longitudinal analysis of an English primary
care cohort of adults aged 50 and over, 2006-2017. Age Ageing. 2024;53(2):afae010.
doi:10.1093/ageing/afae010

Ng TP, Feng L, Nyunt MS, et al. Nutritional, physical, cognitive, and combination
interventions and frailty reversal among older adults: a randomized controlled trial. Am J
Med. 2015;128(11):1225-1236.e1. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2015.06.017

Frost R, Belk C, Jovicic A, et al. Health promotion interventions for community-dwelling older
people with mild or pre-frailty: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Geriatr.
2017;17(1):157. doi:10.1186/s12877-017-0547-8

Apostolo J, Cooke R, Bobrowicz-Campos E, et al. Effectiveness of interventions to prevent
pre-frailty and frailty progression in older adults: a systematic review. JBI Database System
Rev Implement Rep. 2018;16(1):140-232. doi:10.11124/JBISRIR-2017-003382

Travers J, Romero-Ortuno R, Bailey J, Cooney MT. Delaying and reversing frailty: a
systematic review of primary care interventions. Br J Gen Pract. 2019;69(678):e61-e69.
doi:10.3399/bjgp18X700241

Negm AM, Kennedy CC, Thabane L, et al. Management of frailty: a systematic review and
network meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. J Am Med Dir Assoc.
2019;20(10):1190-1198. doi:10.1016/j.jamda.2019.08.009

Won CW. Diagnosis and management of frailty in primary health care. Korean J Fam Med.
2020;41(4):207-213. doi:10.4082/kjfm.20.0122

Rogers NT, Marshall A, Roberts CH, et al. Physical activity and trajectories of frailty among
older adults: evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. PLoS One.
2017;12(2):e0170878. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0170878

17

Page 165


https://phe.org.uk/data/local-alcohol-profiles
https://ons.gov.uk/loneliness
https://ons.gov.uk/smoking-prevalence
https://publishing.service.gov.uk/SACN

27.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

34.

35.

36.

37.

38.

39.

40.

Niederstrasser NG, Rogers NT, Bandelow S. Determinants of frailty development and
progression using a multidimensional frailty index: evidence from the English Longitudinal
Study of Ageing. PLoS One. 2019;14(10):e0223799. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0223799

Rogers NT, Fancourt D. Cultural engagement is a risk-reducing factor for frailty incidence
and progression. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. 2020;75(3):571-576.
doi:10.1093/geronb/gbz004

Yoshizawa Y, Tanaka T, Takahashi K, et al. Impact of health literacy on the progression of
frailty after 4 years among community-dwelling older adults. Int J Environ Res Public Health.
2021;19(1):394. doi:10.3390/ijerph19010394

What is the effect of health coaching on physical activity participation in people aged 60
years and over? A systematic review of randomised controlled trials. PubMed. Accessed
January 15, 2025. https://pubmed.ncbi.nim.nih.gov/

SciELO Brazil. Coaching as a strategy for the health promotion of the elderly: a systematic
review. Accessed January 15, 2025. https://scielo.org/

Effects of health coaching on behavioral modification among adults with cardiovascular risk
factors: systematic review and meta-analysis. ScienceDirect. Accessed January 15, 2025.
https://sciencedirect.com/

Internet users, UK - Office for National Statistics. Office for National Statistics. Accessed
January 15, 2025. https://ons.gov.uk/

Gann B. Combating digital health inequality in the time of coronavirus. J Consum Health
Internet. 2020;24(3):278-284. doi:10.1080/15398285.2020.1819133

Briggs R, McDonough A, Ellis G, et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment for community-
dwelling, high-risk, frail, older people. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2022;5:CD012705.
doi:10.1002/14651858.CD012705.pub2

Arakelyan S, et al. The Lancet Healthy Longevity. 2023;4(11):€629-e644.
doi:10.1016/S2666-7568(23)00185-8

Conroy S, et al. A controlled evaluation of comprehensive geriatric assessment in the
emergency department: the ‘Emergency Frailty Unit.” Age Ageing. Accessed January 15,
2025. doi:10.1093/ageing/afy132

Clegg A, et al. Frailty in elderly people. The Lancet. Accessed January 15, 2025.
doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9

Ellis G, et al. Comprehensive geriatric assessment for older adults admitted to hospital.
Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Accessed January 15, 2025.
doi:10.1002/14651858.CD006211.pub4

NIHR Evidence. Frailty: research shows how to improve care. October 2024.
doi:10.3310/nihrevidence_64717

18

Page 166


https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/
https://scielo.org/
https://sciencedirect.com/
https://ons.gov.uk/

Page 167

19



This page is intentionally left blank



	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	5 Quarterly Strategy Progress Report
	8 GP Access Update
	9 STW Healthy Ageing/Frailty Strategy
	Appendix A - STW Healthy Ageing Strategy DRAFT V4 - 03.09.25.25
	Appendix B - Healthy Ageing IIA (Post Engagement)
	Appendix C - Frailty Public Engagement Report of Findings - July 25 FINAL FOR SHARING
	Appendix D - Supporting Information for STW Healthy Ageing Strategy


